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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Brilliant
Global Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EREHE

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2025.

The past year presented a mixed set of challenges and opportunities.
Amid heightened economic uncertainty and volatile market conditions,
the revenue from the property management services business
had steady growth, which was partially offset by the decline from
gold and jewellery trading and lending business. Revenue from
continuing operations for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted
to approximately HK$107,372,000, representing an increase of
approximately 17.7% as compared to approximately HK$91,254,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. Despite headwinds in certain
segments, we recorded overall revenue growth during the year,
testament to the strength and agility of our business model.

Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited (“China
Brilliant Property”), a subsidiary of the Group, is an enterprise which
focuses on property management for the producer services industrial
zone, provides IoT related technology development, solution and
ancillary business, provides industrial supply chain value-added
services to production corporations within the industrial park.
China Brilliant Property has accumulated certain technologies and
experiences in this field and has applied such technologies and
experiences to its customers through digitalization. The Platform
currently includes 8 intelligent construction systems including the
construction equipment monitoring system, security system, vehicle
management system, intelligent lighting system, engine power
environment system, intelligent service system, fire alarm system
and power consumption monitoring system. The systems support
daily operation monitoring and management in various dimensions
and ultimately achieve scientific and intelligent management to
boost operation efficiency. In addition, the industrial supply chain
value-added services provided to production corporations within the
industrial park also cover consultation and services on industrial trades
and logistics.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2024/25
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHE

The intelligent industrial zone will be one of the long-term businesses
of China Brilliant Property and DT is the new phrase of intelligent
industrial zone development. It is the best measure and practice
to materialize a precise industrial zone, efficient management and
management services. In the future, China Brilliant Property will
leverage on the accumulated experiences of 5G, Al and intelligent
industrial zone operation, as well as the co-operation with ecological
partners, to drive the industrial zone into the new era. The are of
the industrial park currently under management is 3.0 million square
meters, which was awarded as the “Leading Property Services
Provider of the Industrial Park of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area” by the China Index Academy in 2024.

Conversely, our gold and jewellery business faced a decline in
transaction volume due to persistently high gold prices, which
weighed on consumer sentiment. Similarly, the lending business
recorded a drop in revenue, reflecting softer borrowing demand
and a more conservative lending environment. Nonetheless, we are
actively implementing measures to adapt our strategies and enhance
long-term competitiveness in both segments.

Looking ahead, the Group will steadily develop its existing businesses,
focus on strengthening business priorities and seeking attractive
investment opportunities, continue to diversify its revenue sources,
and strive to achieve the goal of expanding revenue sources and
improving profitability. We will continue to adopt a prudent attitude,
balance the business development process and liquidity situation, lay
a solid foundation for the long-term development of the Group, further
consolidate the Group’s market position, enhance its competitive
advantages, and strive to provide quality services, explore new
business opportunities, and strive to create more value and benefits for
the Group and its shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EREHE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my sincere appreciation to our Board members, the management
team, and all dedicated employees for their steadfast commitment and
contributions over the past year. My heartfelt thanks also go to our
shareholders, customers, and business partners for their continued
trust and support.

Together, we will remain steadfast in navigating the evolving landscape
and embrace the future with confidence and resolve.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

During the year, the Group is engaged in Gold and jewellery trading,
property management and value-added service, money lending and
related business, trading business.

As a result, the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HK$107,372,000, representing an increase
of approximately 17.7% from approximately HK$91,254,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024. Despite facing challenges in the Gold and
jewellery and money lending segments, where revenue declined due
to high gold prices and a contraction in loan demand respectively,
the Group delivered overall revenue growth for the year. This positive
performance was underpinned by the strong expansion of our
property management services and the increasing contribution from
trading business segment, both of which offset the downturn in other
segments.

Cost of sales and gross profit margin

Cost of sales of the Group increased from approximately
HK$72,408,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$86,318,000, for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing
an increase of approximately 19.2%. As the property management
business contributed a significant part of the revenue, which had a
higher gross profit margin (2025: 93.5% and 2024: 93.4%), which was
partially offset by lower gross margin in Gold and jewellery business
(2025: 1.7% and 2024: 0.7%), and trading business (2025: 0.8% and
2024: N/A). The overall gross profit margin slightly decreased from
approximately 20.7% to 19.6% in current year.

Other gains and losses, net

Other gains and losses, net during the year amounted to a gain
approximately HK$343,000, which was decreased by approximately
HK$8,832,000 as compared with that of 2024 (2024: loss
HK$8,489,000). The decrease was mainly due to decrease in the fair
value change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses were approximately HK$43,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2025 increased from approximately HK$39,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The minor increase was mainly
attributable to the increase the marketing and promotion expenditure
of the Gold and jewellery trading and retailing business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses experienced an decrease of approximately
HK$26,803,000 from approximately HK$37,568,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$10,765,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2025 which was mainly due to (i) there is
one-off employees share award scheme expenses in amounting to
HK$20,503,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024; (i) decrease in
audit fee HK$965,000; (i) decrease in depreciation on right-on-use-
asset HK$845,000 and (iv) decrease in legal and professional fee in
amounting to HK$2,211,000.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs experienced an increase of approximately
HK$13,000 from approximately HK$484,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024 to approximately HK$497,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025. The increase in such expenses was due to the interest on
borrowings, will be calculated starting from May 2023.

Impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal

Impairment losses reversed under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal are approximately HK$2,445,000 (2024: impairment loss
recognised HK$23,803,000) for the year ended 31 March 2025. The
breakdown of Impairment losses had been shown in notes 9 and 42(a)
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense had been decreased from a from approximately
HK$3,053,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$2,318,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease of enterprise income tax in property
management services business.

Discontinued operation

The disposal of Fintech Business was completed on 5 October 2023,
on which date the Brillink Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries has
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and has become financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Company. Loss for the
year ended 31 March 2025 from the discontinued operation is nil (31
March 2024: HK$21,505,000).

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2024/25
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Result for the year

The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$10,219,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$76,095,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The profit
for the year mainly included (i) the operation profit from property
management business in amounting to HK$15,796,000, and (i) the
impairment losses reversed under expected credit loss model from
gold and jewellery business in amounting to HK$3,175,000, set off
with (i) operating expenses of the holding company in amounting
to HK$7,095,000 and (iv) income tax of the Group in amounting to
HK$2,318,000.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Leases

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has not recognised any right-of-use
assets or lease liabilities on its consolidated statement of financial
position as all previous leases have expired.

Goodwill

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded goodwill in amounting to
HK$1,823,000 (2024: nil) due to the acquisition of Hong Kong Letu
Holdings Limited during the year.

Inventories

As at 31 March 2025, inventories increased in amounting to
HK$2,928,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$2,681,000) mainly due to the
rise in gold prices.

Trade receivables and trade payables

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a notable increase
in both trade receivable (HK$29,206,000) and trade payables
(HK$24,638,000) compared to the previous financial year. This was
mainly attributable to the trading transaction in Trading business
completed during the year.

Loan receivables

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s loan receivables amounted to
HK$3,836,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$10,491,000). A full expected
credit loss allowance of HK$3,836,000 was recognised against this
balance based on the credit assessment and impairment evaluation.
As a result, the net carrying amount of loan receivables as the
reporting date was nil.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Amounts due from/to related companies

As at 31 March 2025, both the amounts due from and amounts due to
related companies recorded decreases as compared to the previous
financial year. The reduction in amounts due to related companies was
primarily attributable to the repayment of a loan of HK$12,090,000
during the year.

Contract liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, contract liabilities decreased in amounting to
HK$377,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$4,314,000) mainly due to
decrease from advance payments received from customers for sales
of goods.

Contingent consideration payable

The Contingent consideration payable represented the acquisition
of Hong Kong Letu Holdings Limited. The breakdown of Contingent
consideration payable had been shown in note 30 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Total equity

As a results of profit for the year, as at 31 March 2025, the Group’s
a total equity increased by approximately HK$9,974,000 to
approximately HK$334,066,000 (31 March 2024: HK$324,092,000).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In
order to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the
Group’s treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally placed
in deposits with banks.

As at 31 March 2025, total cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$27,315,000 (as at 31 March 2024:
HK$15,248,000). The increase in total cash and cash equivalent was
mainly due to (i) new cash inflow of property management business in
amounting to HK$16,039,000 and, (i) net cash inflow generated from
disposal of subsidiaries in amounting to HK$5,200,000, set off with (iii)
advance from related companies in amounting to HK$7,361,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Treasury policies and foreign currency exchange exposure
As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in United States Dollar, Renminbi and Hong
Kong Doallar, the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group
was insignificant and there was no significant adverse effect on normal
operations.

Cash is generally deposited at banks in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
PRC and Hong Kong and denominated mostly in United States Dollar,
Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar. During the year ended and as at 31
March 2025, no related hedges were made by the Group (2024: nil).

Charges on Group’s assets
The Group did not have any charges on assets as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
other than contingent consideration payable (2024: nil).

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (2024: nil).

Significant investments, acquisitions or disposals

Significant investments

The principal activities of Brillink Holdings Limited (“Brillink Holdings”)
and its subsidiaries are engaged in fintech business, information
transmission, software and information technology service and
information system software development. Brillink Holdings wholly
and indirectly owns 3 subsidiaries, Brillink Fintech Limited which
incorporated in Hong Kong, BA#E &£ (% II) B R AT which is a
China limited company and Brillink Bank Corporation Limited which is
principally engaged in the banking business at the Astana International
Financial Centre (“AlIFC”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Proportion Number of
of investee’s shares held
capital at 31 March
owned 2025

FfE# R-FoIF
REREARH =A=t+-A

Fair value as Loss arising

compared Dividend on change

to the received/ in fair value

consolidated receivable recognised

total assets in the year in the year

Fairvalue  of the Group ended ended
at 31 March at 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2025 2025 2025
NTEE BE BE

Hi%@ -¥-If  CBCIf
R=%8Z1% =A=+-B =RA=+-H

R-2-1f =ZA=+-H LEE LFECHER
ZH=+-B KAEEAE BR/ER ATEELD

Bl FERGEE ZDTERE i RS  FELZER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn FAL
Name of unlisted equity securities FEmRARFEE
Brilink Holdings Limited ERERBRAT 48.0% 9,637 240,934 61.96% - 60

As at 31 March 2025, the Company held 48.0% shareholding
interest of Brillink Holdings and the fair value was approximately
HK$240,934,000 (2024: HK$240,994,000). The fair value decreased by
approximately HK$60,000 during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Significant acqusitions

On 30 December 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
CBG Services Holdings Limited had acquired 51% equity interest of
Hong Kong Letu Holdings Limited (& 7 % [& 122 i% 5 R A 7))

Except for the above acquisition, the Group does not have other
material acquisition or disposal during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Capital structure and use of proceeds

Capital structure

The Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid share capital were as
follows:

MBEE BERARREZW

BEAXARBRABRIERE
BALE
ARBZIEE BBRITRBREADT:

Number of shares Share capital

B EE B
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March \_E_miﬂ A—Bk
2025 (HK$0.1 each) —E-ARF=ZA=+—H
(BRRMEE01E ) 2,500,000,000 250,000

BEITRER:
R-FE-_AF=A=1t—H
(B EECET)

Issued and fully paid:
As at 31 March 2025 (HK$0.1 each)

The Group’s capital structure is sound with healthy working capital
management. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total equity amounted
to approximately HK$334,066,000, representing an increase of
approximately 3.1% compared with that as at 31 March 2024 (31
March 2024: HK$324,092,000). As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately HK$27,315,000 (as
at 31 March 2024: HK$15,428,000). The current ratio (note a) and
the quick ratio (note b) of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was 2.66
(as at 31 March 2024: 2.99) and 2.61 (as at 31 March 2024: 2.92)
respectively. The gearing ratio (note c¢) of the Group as at 31 March
2025 was net cash position (as at 31 March 2024: 4.7%).

Apart from the above, there has been no material change in the capital
structure of the Group during the year.

Notes:
(a) Current Ratio = Current Assets = Current Liabilities
(b) Quick Ratio = (Current Assets — Inventories) = Current Liabilities

(@] Gearing Ratio = (Debts — Cash and cash equivalents) = Equity

1,5618,442,426 151,844
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Share award scheme

The Company adopts and administers a share award scheme which is
currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

The share award scheme was approved by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 March 2024 (the
“CBG Share Award Scheme”).

As the CBG Share Award Scheme effective, the share option scheme
which was adopted by the Company on 10 September 2021 (the
“2021 Scheme”) be and is hereby terminated upon the CBG Share
Award Scheme coming into effect (without prejudice to the rights and
benefits of and attached to any outstanding options which have been
granted under the share option scheme prior to the date hereof (if

any)).

As the CBG Share Award Scheme effective, the total number of
Shares which may be issued in respect of all Awards to be granted
under the CBG Share Award Scheme and any other share schemes of
the Company (i.e. the Scheme Mandate Limit) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% (or such other percentage which may be specified by the
Stock Exchange from time to time) of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of passing of this resolution or the relevant date of
approval of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.”

Use of proceeds

The use of proceeds had been fully utilized before 1 April 2024. There
is not any proceeds had been received or utilised during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 42 employees (31
March 2024: 36). Total staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2025
decreased to approximately HK$7,078,000 (2024: HK$29,121,000)
mainly due to decrease in staff costs in fintech business and
employees share award scheme.

The Group’s remuneration policy is basically determined by the
performance of individual employees and Directors and the market
condition. In addition to salaries and discretionary bonuses, employee
benefits included medical schemes, pension contributions, share
option schemes and staff training.

Human resources and employees’ remuneration

CBG Share Award Scheme

On 18 March 2024, Company adopts a share award scheme (the
“CBG Share Award Scheme”). The principal objectives of the CBG
Share Award Scheme are () to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions which the Eligible Participants have made or may make
to the Group and to reward the Eligible Participants who have achieved
outstanding performance, and (i) to provide the Eligible Participants
with incentives, motivating them to optimise their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group and attracting and retaining the
Eligible Participants.

BHL Share Award Scheme

On 2 December 2020, Brillink Holdings Limited (BHL, formerly
known as CBG Fintech Holdings Limited), previous subsidiary of the
Company, adopted a Share Award Scheme (the “BHL Share Award
Scheme”). The principal objectives of the BHL Share Award Scheme
are (i) to recognise the contributions by employees and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of Fintech segment; and (i) to attract suitable
personnel for further development of Fintech segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Gold and jewellery business

The Group is engaged in the trading of Gold and jewellery products in
the wholesale market and directly to customers through its own retail
outlets.

During the period under review, the Group’s Gold and jewellery
business included wholesale and retail of jewellery and related
ancillary business (including but not limited to custom-made jewellery,
valet-procurement of jewellery and various after-sales services),
and most of the processing businesses are performed in the form
of commissioned processing by external factories. The Gold and
jewellery products sold by the Group mainly included gold jewellery,
platinum jewellery, diamond jewellery, gemstone jewellery, emerald and
karat gold jewellery.

The Group’s jewellery wholesale business was mainly conducted
through the wholesale of jewellery products to jewellery wholesalers
by 2B #EA ORI BBRAF, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, where the jewellery products being wholesaled were mainly
gold jewelries. During the period under review, the Group has the
secondary membership (Z# & & & &) of Shanghai Gold Exchange
and continued to develop the secondary gold sales agency business
(ED R IEZEF). The Group may place orders for bullion via the
online trading platform of Shanghai Gold Exchange. After claiming the
bullion, the Group may commission external factories to process into
finished gold jewellery and wholesale to jewellery wholesalers.

The Group will continue to focus on developing its Gold and jewellery
business. With reference to its past sales experience, the Group
intends to step up its efforts in identifying more jewellery wholesaler
customers in South China, thereby expanding the sales channels
of its secondary gold sales agency business (&= & — & ft I 2
#%). Meanwhile, the Group will put more efforts to raise the sales
proportion to its major high-end corporate customers (which principally
purchase or customize jewellery as corporate gifts/awards) so as to
increase the jewellery sales as well as generate profits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Gold and jewellery business (Continued)

The revenue from the Gold and jewellery business decreased by
approximately HK$10,843,000 from approximately HK$71,810,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$60,967,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025. During the year, the Group’s Gold and
jewellery segment faced a declined in transaction volume, primarily
due to the continued surge in international gold prices. The elevated
price level dampened consumer purchasing sentiment. Going forward,
the Group will try further effort to control the selling and administrative
expenses while balancing the development of this business.

Property management business

The Group had expanded into the Property management business by
acquiring a property management company, Shenzhen China Brilliant
Property Services Company Limited (“China Brilliant Property”),
which is mainly based in Shenzhen, the PRC. Such acquisition was
to broaden the Group’s income sources. On 5 October 2023, China
Brilliant Property became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

As the loT, big data and Al has been deeply integrated into the
economy, digitalization is a new motivation for traditional industries
to undergo upgrading and restructuring. China Brilliant Property
is an enterprise which focuses on property management for the
producer services industrial zone and provides IoT related technology
development and solution. China Brilliant Property has accumulated
certain technologies and experiences in this field and has applied such
technologies and experiences to its customers through digitalization.
The Platform currently includes 8 intelligent construction systems
including the construction equipment monitoring system, security
system, vehicle management system, intelligent lighting system,
engine power environment system, intelligent service system, fire
alarm system and power consumption monitoring system. The
systems support daily operation monitoring and management in
various dimensions and ultimately achieve scientific and intelligent
management to boost operation efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Property management business (Continued)

China Brilliant Property engages in the provision of property
management services that spans across different cities and regions of
the PRC, with a total of 22 property management projects, involving
large-scale industrial warehouses, residential quarters, industrial parks,
commercial plazas, and other types of properties and loT technology
application platforms.

China Brilliant Property has completed the invention and optimization
of an intelligent digital twin (“DT”) management system for the
industrial zone, the clients SaaS management system and loT BIM5
management platform, to launch an unified operation platform
“Industrial Asset Management and IT Operation Service Platform” (the
“Platform”), to provide customized services for its customers.

The revenue from the Property management business increased by
approximately HK$3,362,000 from approximately HK$16,983,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$20,345,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025. During the year under review, the
Group’s property management segment recorded a steady revenue
growth, primarily attributable to the management area in Foshan has
increased by 650,000 square meters.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to pursue strategic
opportunities to broaden its service coverage and deepen client
relationship, ensuring sustainable and quality growth in this segment.

The intelligent industrial zone will be one of the long-term businesses
of China Brilliant Property and DT is the new phrase of intelligent
industrial zone development. It is the best measure and practice
to materialize a precise industrial zone, efficient management and
management services. In the future, China Brilliant Property will
leverage on the accumulated experiences of 5G, Al and intelligent
industrial zone operation, as well as the co-operation with ecological
partners, to drive the industrial zone into the new era.

Also, the government of China has been encouraging the further
development of the industry through cost reduction, this is a very
promising opportunity for the Group and will provide higher return for
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Lending business

The Group is engaged in the Lending Business in Hong Kong during
the period under review. The Group will pay a closer attention to the
market situation and the external economic environment and consider
the possibility of further expansion in the Lending Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business (Continued)

The money lending business of the Company, which is carried
out through CBG Finance Limited (“CBG Finance”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is predominantly focused on
short-term loans with a maturity period from 30 days to 60 days, with
the occasional slightly longer term of 1 year. The key target client base
of CBG Finance is made up of manufacturers of electronic devices
wishing to obtain short-term loans to meet their working capital needs
between the manufacturing stage for their orders which require funds
to purchase the necessary materials and resources for manufacturing,
and the payment stage after their delivery of goods. The borrower
clients of CBG Finance include both individual and corporate
manufacturers incorporated in both Hong Kong and overseas and
are predominantly introduced to the Group on referral basis by the
shareholders and other staff and employees of the Group. The interest
rates of the loans advanced by CBG Finance to the borrowers are
predominantly at fixed rates in the range of 5% to 8% per annum,
determined with reference to the market rates from time to time.

Before accepting any application from prospective borrowers seeking
to obtain a loan from CBG Finance, certain credit assessment
procedures are required to be complied with according to the internal
policy of CBG Finance. Applicants wishing to borrow a loan from CBG
Finance are required to complete a loan application form and provide
the required loan application documents for verification and due
diligence process. All loan applications are subject to credit review,
anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing review and
approval by the directors of CBG Finance. CBG Finance will conduct
the credit assessment on the applicant with the information provided
by the applicant or obtained through public search, which may
include (but are not limited to): (i) conducting a check on background
information provided by applicant against public search; (i) obtaining
and reviewing the latest financial information of the applicant for the
latest financial year and applicable period, including sales breakdown
by customers, material cashflow information and tax payment, etc.;
(i) obtaining and reviewing the details of bad and doubtful debts of
the applicant for the latest financial year and applicable period (if any);
(iv) conducting a litigation search and check for any unresolved or
unsettled significant litigation against the applicant; (v) obtaining and
reviewing the purchase contract(s) and order(s) of the applicant for
which the loan is proposed to be drawn; and (vi) conducting asset
evaluation on the applicants and/or its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business (Continued)

The directors of CBG Finance will consider each loan application
on a case-by-case basis and make reference to the result of credit
assessment process together with the following factors to consider
and approve the loan application, including: (i) the purpose, loan size,
tenor, interest rate and other terms of the loan; (ii) the credit history of
the applicant with CBG Finance; and (jii) the sufficiency of investments
and assets held by the applicant in the People’s Republic of China or
Hong Kong showing financial capability of the applicant to repay the
loan and consider whether any security and/or guarantee are required
to be provided by the applicant. After the loan transactions are entered
into, monthly reviews on the loan performance and overall risk profile
will be conducted by CBG Finance of its loan portfolios.

Further, CBG Finance has in place loan collection and loan portfolio
monitoring policies which are applicable to all loans granted or
renewed by CBG Finance. Where any borrower has failed to make
any repayment on the due date, the staff of CBG Finance will demand
repayment from the borrower and pay a visit to the address of such
borrower. If any borrower continues to fail to repay any amount due
and owing to CBG Finance, legal advisers would be engaged to
formally demand repayment from such borrower and the Company
will consider taking further legal action as and when appropriate,
subject to legal advice to be obtained from the legal advisers. All
existing borrower clients of CBG Finance have proven satisfactory
track record on making timely repayment and no additional debt
collection procedures were required to be taken by CBG Finance for
the year ended 31 March 2025. For assessment and monitoring of
loan recoverability, CBG Finance regularly reviews the manufacturing
and sale orders of the borrower clients to monitor the status of the
orders for which the borrower clients had obtained loans from CBG
Finance and keeps itself informed of the financial conditions and cash
flow statuses of the borrower clients to ensure the recoverability of the
loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business (Continued)

The management of CBG Finance will prepare annual reports to
the Board to inform them of the figures of overdue loans for the
relevant year. As at the relevant balance sheet date, the Board will
assess whether there are any indications of impairment on the loan
receivables, and if so, perform an impairment test and determine
the amount of impairment loss to be recognised. In determining the
expected credit loss (“ECL”) for loan receivables, historical data are
assessed together with other external information and are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors. To ensure the adequacy of allowance for ECL on loan
receivables, the Group engaged an independent firm of professional
valuers to conduct a valuation on the allowance for ECL on loan
receivables recognised for each financial year, and this impairment
allowance was also cross-examined by auditors of the Company.

The Group applies the general approach under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 (HKFRS 9), which is often referred to as
the “three-stage model”, under which ECL of loan receivables are
determined based on (a) the changes in credit quality of the loan
receivables since initial recognition, and (b) the estimated expectation
of economic loss of the loan receivable under consideration. Under the
general approach, there are two measurement bases for allowance of
ECL: (a) 12-month ECL, which is the ECL as a result of default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date and is
calculated as the allowance for ECL on a loan receivable weighted by
the probability of default events accumulated over the 12 months after
the reporting date; (b) lifetime ECL, which is the ECL as a result of all
possible default events over the expected life of a loan receivable and
is calculated as the allowance for ECL on a loan receivable weighted
by the probability of default event accumulated over the entire life
of the loan receivable. The allowance for ECL on loan receivables is
derived from gross credit exposure, recovery rate and probability of
default.

The Board considers that the credit assessment policy in place, which
is stringently complied with by CBG Finance prior to entering into any
loan transactions with any prospective borrowers, is effective and
adequate in serving the purpose of assessing the potential benefits
and risks of each prospective loan transaction of the Company.
Thorough background check and due diligence are carried out
by CBG Finance on the prospective borrowers and their business
operations and financial conditions before any loan transactions are
entered into. The Board also considers the loan collection and loan
portfolio monitoring policies and loan impairment policy to be effective
and adequate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business (Continued)

Amongst the 1 Outstanding Loans in the Group’s loan portfolio as
at 31 March 2025, () none of them were secured by collaterals or
guarantees; (i) 1 Outstanding Loans amounting to total outstanding
loan receivables of HK$3,836,000 (before allowance for credit loss)
had a term of 1 year; (i) 1 Outstanding Loans amounting to total
outstanding loan receivables of HK$3,836,000 had an interest rate of
8% per annum.

The maturity date, interest rate and structure (i.e. with or without
collateral) of the relevant loans were determined based on the
commercial interest of the Group as a whole, with reference to,
amongst others, (i) the risk level of the loan (including but not limited
to the availability of collaterals and/or personal guarantees); (i) the
principal amount of the loan; and (jii) the financial condition of the
borrower.
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The ageing analysis of loan receivables (before allowance for credit ERBEEHMmEYVIRERF R BB EK
losses) based on initial loan commencement date as set out in the ERHIREEEEREER RETOT:
relevant contracts is as follows:
As at
31 March 2025
R-B-HE
=A=+4+—8
HK$'000
FET
181 days to 365 days 181K 2365k 3,836
Total “Et 3,836
The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the maturity dates as ERBEBEELHE R B ERE R
set out in the relevant contracts is as follows: DT

As at

31 March 2025

R-B-RE

=HA=+-—H

HK$’000

FET

Not yet due 7K 81 B 3,836
Overdue 18 5 =
Total st 3,836
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business (Continued)

The above supplementary information does not affect other
information contained in the Annual Report. Save as disclosed above,
all other information in the Annual Report remains unchanged.

The revenue from the lending business decreased by approximately
HK$1,687,000 from approximately HK$2,461,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024 to approximately HK$774,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025. During the year under review, decreasing of loan interest
income and resulted in loss in this segment, mainly attributable to
a decrease in borrowing amounts and a reduction in the number of
borrowers from 6 (2024) to 4 (2025).

The Group has conducted internal risk assessment on these loan
arrangements and noted both of the borrowers have substantial
investments and assets in the PRC which support their respective
financial capability to repay the loans, thus no securities or collaterals
was sought. The purpose of the loans is to enhance their short-term
cash flow.

Trading business

During the year under review, the Group’s trading business recorded
a notable increase in revenue, primarily attributable to a new trading
initiative undertaken during the year. This business generated revenue
of approximately HK$25,286,000, and no comparable activity was
recorded in the previous financial year.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (“Mr. Zhang”), was appointed as the
Chairman and executive director of the Company on 12 February
2018. Mr. Zhang is in charge of the overall corporate strategies and
business development of the Group. Mr. Zhang founded a trading
company in Shenzhen and it evolved to become a global supply chain
management corporation which Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development of the
corporation which is a top 100 import/export corporation in the PRC
and a pioneer of supply chain management in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has
over 18 years of experience in supply chain management in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang is a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultation
Conference National Committee and the chairman of 7 JI| T T 7% 3£ B

Py
aRme o

From 1996 to 2003, Mr. Zhang worked in the Electronic Banking
Department of China Construction Bank, Shenzhen branch, (“CCB
Shenzhen Branch”) and mainly responsible for the development and
management of CCB Shenzhen Branch’s technology products. In the
past decade years of banking work experience, Mr. Zhang has deep
insights into the theoretical knowledge of banking, product services
and management, and is familiar with bank organizational structure,
bank products, business operations, network construction, financial
technology etc.

Mr. Zhang has led the development of the first batch of customers
of the financial technology products of CCB Shenzhen Branch,
promoted the convenience of the banking system and made a
positive contribution to the sprouting and development of science as a
supporter of the beginning of the mainland bank technology finance.

Ms. Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”), was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 12 February 2018 and the chief
executive officer of the Company on 1 July 2023. Ms. Zhang has
over 18 years of experience in financial management in the PRC and
she is the Senior Vice President of China Brilliant Group and general
manager of Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services Company
Limited. Ms. Zhang is responsible for overseeing the financial
operation of the corporation and liaising with various bankers of the
corporation for banking facilities and other services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (“Ms. Chan”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Chan is
a finance expert with more than 20 years professional and commercial
exposure in international accounting firm, multinational corporations
and Hong Kong listed companies. She served as a Principal of Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited. Ms. Chan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in accounting. She also holds
a master degree in business administration from the University
of Manchester. Ms. Chan is the member of certain professional
associations. Ms. Chan was Committee member and Chairman, SME
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
("ACCA") for 8 years. She is elected in the ACCA Global Council
Election in December 2017. She was a member of ACCA Resource
Oversight Committee and International Assembly. She is a member of
ACCA’s Governance, Risk and Performance Global Forum.

Ms. Huang Jingshu (“Ms. Huang”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 1 October 2023. Ms. Huang,
has been appointed an executive director and Chairman of LVGEM
(China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange under stock code : 95) since 15 May 2014 and
5 June 2014 respectively and is responsible for the overall business
development. From August 2012 to July 2013, Ms. Huang served in
the Guangzhou branch of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Special General
Partnership) and her last position was analyst of Corporate Risk
Management Service Division, where she was primarily responsible
for providing professional services to clients. Since November 2010,
Ms. Huang started serving in Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management
Group Co., Ltd. (XU TEE X EBEBEBER A F) and her
position was the vice general manager of the investment management
department and was responsible for corporate development and
planning matters. Ms. Huang obtained her Bachelor of Arts with
Honours degree in Accounting and Finance from University of Exeter in
the United Kingdom in July 2010, and her Master of Science degree in
Accounting and Finance in November 2011.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Mr. Peng Yin (“Mr. Peng”), was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 1 October 2023. Mr. Peng, is the founder
of Acroterry International Co., Ltd. (& Z= f% 1% & R 2 & ). From
December 2012 to December 2017, Mr. Peng served as the director,
vice president and sales director of Acroterry Technology (Shanghai)
Company Limited (& Z= B2 (_E/8) B R A 7). From November 2017
to September 2021, Mr. Peng served as the director, deputy general
manager, and sales director of ETA Solutions Company Limited (§&
FXERBRNMERLA  AiBERFEEmMAARAA). From
September 2021 to February 2023, Mr. Peng served as the director,
deputy general manager and sales director of ETA Semiconductor
Company Limited (£F 2= = 88 j% {5 8 PR A 7)) (‘ETA Semiconductor”).
Since February 2023, Mr. Peng has been appointed as a senior sales
consultant of ETA Semiconductor.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Koon Fat (“Mr. Chan”) has been appointed as the
chief financial officer, Company Secretary and the Authorised
Representative of the Company on 12 February 2018. Mr. Chan, has
over 20 years of experience in the areas of capital markets, accounting
and finance, investment and corporate management covering a
number of industry sectors such as real estate, medical and garment.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of On Real International Holdings Limited (stock
code : 8245) from March 2016 to August 2017 and is responsible for
all financial, accounting, investment and corporate finance matters.
Since August 2007, Mr. Chan held senior positions including chief
financial officer, financial controller and company secretary of certain
companies which were listed on Singapore Exchange Limited. Mr.
Chan holds a Master of Business Administration (Financial Services)
of Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a bachelor degree in
accounting of Lingnan University, Hong Kong. He is a fellow and
practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan has also been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of LVGEM (China) Real Estate
Investment Company Limited (“LVGEM”, 0095.HK) on 30 August 2024
and appointed as the chairman of the audit committee of LVGEM on
14 February 2025.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Director of the Company are pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal activities for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 92 to 224.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year under review is set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this annual
report on pages 9 to 25.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION BEERAE

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and AEBBRTRAEMREEEHECEENRE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. EREERHENAT -

Results e

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+—HILEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—R-HE —T-oNF —T=-=F —ZT-—F —T=-—F

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTix TAET TAET TAET THET

Revenue g 2% 107,372 91254 108,324 88,013 65,369
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADEF

(E8) 12,537 (51,537) (10,651) (16,229) (13,531)
Income tax expense Frig®if = (2,318) (3,053) (1,389 (202) (276)

Profit/(loss) for the year from 3K (8 5 4% 68 &

continuing operations EBIFN
wmA(ER) 10,219 (54,590) (12,040 (16,431) (13,807)
Discontinued operation ERIEEEER
Loss for the year from REBKRIEEE
discontinued operation EBIFN
&5 18 - (21,505) (31,346) (27,484) (22,432)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 10,219 (76,095) (43,386) (43,915) (36,239)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued) BEEREEE

Assets and Liabilities BEEREE

As at 31 March

W=H=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-HE —TopFE —E-o=F —FT_-— T

HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FiEx TAT TR FTAT TAET

Property, plant and M- BMENKEE

equipment 593 585 1,495 1,388 2,192
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE - 77 999 170 2,085
Intangible assets BEEE 713 839 13,395 15,576 —
Goodwill EES 1,823 — — — —
Financial assets at fair value 22 FEBEE AR

Through profit of loss mZEREE 240,934 240,994 — — —
Prepayment AR e = — 211 = 4,670
Current assets EEEE 144,805 122,697 179,596 164,224 162,037
Current liabilities MBAE (54,462) (41,100) (71,320) (96,299) (10,288)
Non-current liabilities FEREBERE (340) — (58,214) — (70,515)
Net assets EEFE 334,066 324,092 66,162 85,059 90,181
Share capital [ 151,844 145,724 145,724 145,724 145,245
Reserves & 181,749 (178,368) (110,342) (109,574) (77,834)

Equity attributable to owners N2 &5 A A FE1G

of the Company S 333,593 324,092 35,382 36,150 67,890
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR = 473 = 30,780 48,909 22,291
Total equity HEm BT 334,066 324,092 66,162 85,059 90,181
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in the Intangible assets of the Group during the
year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 33 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution as calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium account is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 67% (2024: 84%) of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 24% (2024: 65%) of the
Group’s total sales.

During the year under review, supplies from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 99% (2024: 99%) of the Group’s
total purchases and purchases from the Group’s largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 70% (2024: 99%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 12
September 2023, Master Service Agreement signed 21 June 2023
and entered into between the CBG Services Holdings Limited and Mr.
Zhang in respect of the provision of the Services by Shenzhen China
Brilliant Property Services Company Limited to Mr. Zhang and his
associates (save for the Company and its subsidiaries).

GRS X
R-ZE-_RAF=RA=+—8" @#ﬁiﬁ%@
AVE(ZEZE—FEFIA)FE - KRR ER]

HDIR 2R - $ETFE€XE¥%/£WIJ B 40 3
ERAHIIRTERR  HERBEEESDIKRK
BZBH® ARBEGREINBEEERKB
BAEEIMZER - RO GERTAIUE
RABEADIK -

FEEFRHUES

REEEERN  AEBRAAEP ZEREG
REBARFEBIBEERELT% (ZTEUF:
84%)  HFMHZARFZHEBMASEES
HEREA)24% (T — P04 : 65%) °

REBFER - AEBER AHERZ HEFAL
RNEBBREBTEL9% (Z T = P04F : 99%)
EPREAEEEAHER 2 RBERLHAS
B BB EA70% (ZF ZM%F : 99%) ©
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang and/or his associates shall pay property management
and value-added service fees per month or per agreed period to
Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited (& 3l T
PEEEY ¥ R AR 2 7)) which comprises labour costs, other staff
costs and outsourcing service fees (if any) and property management
remuneration after receiving the relevant invoice issued by Shenzhen
China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited.

The property management and value-added service fees are
determined after arm’s length negotiations between the relevant
parties after taking into account (i) the area of the relevant premises; (ii)
the type of the property projects; (iii) the contracted scope of services
and standards; (iv) the number of staff required for the provision of
services; (v) the labour costs including wages, overtime payment
and welfare expenses; (vi) other staff costs, outsourcing service fees,
one-off material input fees, cleaning fees and property management
remuneration; (vii) the prevailing market rates and market prices for
the provision of the Services of comparable quality and scope and in
comparable areas for comparable types of properties; and (viii) the
guidance price of such services for similar types of property projects
issued by the local government (if any).

Government guidance prices are available only for residential
property projects. Currently, none of the property projects under the
management of Shenzhen China Birilliant Property Services Company
Limited is of a residential nature and as such, market-based prices of 1
to 3 other similar property projects managed by independent property
management companies are primarily used for pricing reference for
the property management and value-added service fees charged by
Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited.

As the Proposed Annual Caps exceed HK$10,000,000 per annum
and the applicable percentage ratios calculated with reference to
which exceeds 5%, the provision of the Services by the Acquisition
Company to Mr. Zhang and his associates (save for the Company
and its subsidiaries) after the Completion contemplated under the
Master Service Agreement would constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions of the Company subject to the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules. During the EGM, the shareholders had
approved the Proposed Annual Caps for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the Master Service Agreement for a
term up to 31 December 2025.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The master service agreement signed on 27 June 2025 (“2025 Master
Service Agreement”) and entered into between the CBG Services
Holdings Limited and Mr. Zhang in respect of the provision of the
Services by Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services Company
Limited to Mr. Zhang and his associates (save for the Company and
its subsidiaries). Other than the services period and annual cap,
the property management and value-added service of 2025 Master
Service Agreement are as same as Master Service Agreement.

2025 Master Service Agreement’s services period is in term of three
years with effect from 1 January 2026 to 31 December 2028 with the
annual cap HK$9,999,999. In 2025 Master Service Agreement, the
transaction is exempt from the circular (including independent financial
advice) and shareholders’ approval requirements as the amount is less
than 25% of all the percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) and
the total amount is less than HK$10,000,000.

Details of related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are disclosed in
note 38 in the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed
above, such related party transactions do not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31
December 2024, save as disclosed above, the Group did not enter into
any connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
which required reporting, annual review, announcements and/or
independent shareholders’ approval under the GEM Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed 2024 Transactions, being continuing
connected transactions of the Company, and confirmed that 2024
Transactions had been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better;
and (jii) in accordance with the Master Service Agreement on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises the importance of environmental sustainability
against modern ecological challenges. Therefore, the Group
committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and
the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. The Group
is committed to acting in an environmentally responsible manner.
Recycling and use of eco-friendly stationery, plus a series of measures
to save paper and energy, resulted in more efficient use of resources,
as well as reduction of waste.

Further details of the Groups environmental, social and governance
initiatives, please refer to the disclosure in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continuous dialogue is maintained with stakeholders that include
customers, employees, regulators and the public. The Company
seeks to balance the views and interests of these various stakeholders
through constructive conversations with a view to charting a course
for the long-term prosperity of the Company and the communities we
touch.

EMPLOYEES

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of a
company. The Company treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it adopts non-discriminatory hiring and
employment practices and strives to provide a safe and healthy
workplace.

GOVERNMENT/COMMUNITY

The Group recognises the importance of contributing within the
local community and the Group encourage its people to develop
close links with charities, schools and other institutions, both locally
and nationally, to help to build more economically sustainable local
environments. Strenuous efforts are exerted to ensure compliance
with the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy

Ms. Huang Jingshu

Mr. Peng Yin

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua, Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy and Mr. Peng Yin will retire from
office and, being eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua, an executive Director, entered into a Directors’
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

E=

RENREEAREAN AARERES
M

MITES
REERE(LE)
REFR L

BIAFMTES
REBZ L
EAET
ZREE

WRAMERARFE108K - REFERE R
XRLLREZEREEHBER  FAEBRA
BRITZARARRBFRAS(RRBFK
g LBEREE -

BYFHNTESHERARST 2B

ARRCEERBUIFNITEEREGEM L
MR RIES 00T & 2 FE B LR -
ARRRBRAEBUIFNTESHEE L

EEZRBEH

HITEERBERLCHARARIY—HE
ERBALY BT \F_AT-BE -
THRR=F HEREEEBEN ZE@—7
MR —HELTPR=ZEAZELEETRH
ik WEARRABERAUNARRRR
RELWESERIREEET -

2024/25 44 | EEIEBARAR 37



38

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Ms. Zhang Chunping, an executive Director, entered into a Directors’
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, an independent non-executive Director,
entered into a Directors’ service contract with the Company for a
fixed term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and
thereafter be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on
the other party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Huang Jingshu, an independent non-executive Director, entered
into a Directors’ service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, commencing from 1 October 2023, and thereafter be
continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Mr. Peng Yin, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a
Directors’ service contract with the Company for a term of three years,
commencing from 1 October 2023, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board are authorised by the Shareholders in general meeting to
fix the Directors’ remuneration. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance, the results of the Group as well as the prevailing market
conditions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Such transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that during the year under review, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

CBG Share Award Scheme

The Company adopts and administers a share award scheme which is
currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

The share award scheme was approved by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 March 2024 (the
“CBG Share Award Scheme”) The CBG Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 18 March
2024.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

CBG Share Award Scheme (Continued)

On 19 January 2024, pursuant to the Share Award Scheme proposed
for consideration and adoption at the EGM, the Company conditionally
granted awards in respect of a total of 72,861,918 awarded shares to
a total of 9 Grantees, all being Employee Participants, subject to and
conditional upon the approval of the Shareholders of the adoption of
the Share Award Scheme, and the Share Award Scheme becoming
unconditional and taking effect. Among the awards conditionally
granted, awards in respect of a total of 8,743,430 awarded shares
were granted to Ms. Zhang, an executive Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 72,861,918 awarded
shares were granted under the Share Award Scheme (representing
approximately 5.0% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 March 2024), of which 61,204,012 shares have been vested and
issued on 27 March 2025, and 11,657,906 awarded shares remain
unvested.

A summary of the CBG Share Award Scheme is as follows:

(@) Purpose

The purposes of the CBG Share Award Scheme are to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions which the Eligible
Participants have made or may make to the Group and to
reward the Eligible Participants who have achieved outstanding
performance, and to provide the Eligible Participants with
incentives, motivating them to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and attracting and
retaining the Eligible Participants.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued) Bz 15 2% Bh =t &) (&)
CBG Share Award Scheme (Continued) BA 2 B B AR 19 2R R 5t 28I (48)
(b)  Eligible Participants ) GERSEE
The Eligible Participants of the Share Award Scheme shall RORETENEERSEEENERE
comprise the Employee Participants only. BEZEE -
In assessing the eligibility of Employee Participants, the Board FHEEELEENERE E599
may consider, among others: EERE(HFPBIE) :
()  the skills, knowledge, experience, expertise and other () EESEERNREE  MH - &% -
relevant personal qualities of the Employee Participant; BEME N EMABOEALDE
(i)  the performance, time commitment, responsibilities or (iy EESEEHRRE  FHERE -
employment conditions of the Employee Participant and EE Sk E R GY J«A K& R8s
the prevailing market practice and industry standard; B RITHEZLE
(i) the contribution made or expected to be made by the iy EE2HEEHAEEREMEDR
Employee Participant to the growth of the Group and the SKTEHERMER - A REB 2 H
positive impacts which the Employee Participant may bring EHAREERFEG R ERATRET K
to the Group’s business and development; MIEEmEE:
(v) the educational and professional qualifications of the vy BEELHENSBFEREFEER U
Employee Participant, and the knowledge of the Employee REE2HEEHITENRE R
Participant on the industry; and
(v  whether granting awards to the Employee Participant v MEBELHERLRBESIE
would be an appropriate incentive to motivate the FEELHE %%%F* B EE R
Employee Participant to continue to contribute towards the RELERNEE SE -
betterment of the Group.
(€ Number of outstanding awards available for grant ) AHELAREDEEHE
The number of outstanding awards available for grant under FUORFERBIERERRR O RZB
the scheme mandate of the CBG Share Award Scheme at the S ET IR AT I H A H R IR SR B X
beginning and the end of the year were 72,861,918 shares and B 5l &72,861,918% K 17,778,308 A% i%
17,778,308 shares respectively; representing 5.0% and 1.2% 7D MERARBEITIRGD H5.0% &
respectively of the Company’s shares in issue. 1.2% °
(@) Number of shares that may be issued @ ATEITRMOEE
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of awards FARBARAGFEF LA EET A
granted under the scheme of the Company during the year (i.e. T EITR 0 00 B0 E (BDAR 458 BA ZE B IR AR
11,657,906 shares under the CBG Share Award Scheme) divided 1 5% B 5t 81 8 17 911,657,006 % A% 1%)
by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year B A A B 31T AR B9 00 4 T35 21 (BT
(i.e. 1,459,077,879 shares) is 0.8%; and 1,459,077,8798% X 1) /30.8% : &
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CBG Share Award Scheme (Continued)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

(e) Total number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares available for issue under the CBG

Share Award Scheme is 90,640,231 shares,

representing

approximately 6.0% of the total number of issued Shares as at

the date of the Annual Report.

Awarded shares granted to the 9 individuals (including one Director)

are extracted and summarized as follows:

% 12 3% Bh &t &l (@)

B 2 [ B A% 1% 2% b 51 2 (48)

e FIHEEITIRM B
1R 1% B B B AR 1D SR B T B AT 82 17 Y
fi% 17 42 81 290,640,231 ML A% 17 » 15 4 %)

BHC#1T R 8 46.0% °

BEToREMAL(BR-—RER) WERRN
A EBENT

Number of Share Awards

RERGEE
Unvested Unvested as
as at 1 April at 31 March  Vesting period
Category Date of grant 2024 Granted Vested 2025  (nhote d)
R-ZB-MmF R-T-1F
mA—H =A=+-H REH

Rl BHBEH KRB =22 =] REB (Wita)

Ms. Zhang Chunping 20 March 2024 8,743,430 = = 8,743,430 20 March 2024-
(Executive Director and 19 March 2026
chief executive officer)

REFLT@ITESHR —TomE ZECWMFE=A=T
BRHTE) =HAZtH BE_T-KRF

=At+hH

Employees of the Group

rEREEES

In aggregate 20 March 2024 2,914,476 — — 2,914,476 20 March 2024-

19 March 2026

A&t —T_mEF ZEWFE=A=T

=ZA=+H HE-ZE-KRF
=A+hH

Total 11,657,906 - - 11,657,906

@t

Notes: HraF -

a. The closing price of the Ordinary Shares immediately before the date of grant a. ZEREFLAHNYBROKTER29E T -

was HK$0.29.

b. The weighted average closing price of the Ordinary Shares immediately b. RZRER O 5B B 2 AT I AR &9 N T

before the date on which the awarded shares were vested was HK$0.28 and
the weighted average number of shares is 1,459,077,879.

During the year, no awarded shares was transferred from/to other category,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Award Scheme.

The vesting period of the awarded shares is from the date of grant until the
date of vesting.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

CBG Share Award Scheme (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

e. On 21 March 2025, the Company had issued 61,204,012 new shares to 7
Grantees.

The Summary of Share Award Scheme

As at 26 February 2024, the Company operates the Existing
Share Option Scheme which was adopted by the Company on 10
September 2021 and is valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years
from the date of adoption. Save for the Existing Share Option Scheme,
as at 26 February 2024, the Company does not maintain any other
share schemes.

According to the terms of the Existing Share Option Scheme, an
ordinary resolution in general meeting was terminated the operation
of the Existing Share Option Scheme, and in such event, no further
Options can be granted under the Existing Share Option Scheme.

The provisions of the Existing Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior to its termination. Options granted prior
to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the rules of the Existing Share Option Scheme. As at
26 February 2024, the Company had not granted any options for the
subscription of Shares under the Existing Share Option Scheme.

The Share Award Scheme is adopted which is valid for a period
of 10 years from 20 March 2024, which would allow the Company
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions which the Eligible
Participants have made or may make to the Group and to provide the
eligible participants with incentives.

Bz 17 82 By 5t 8l ()

BA 2= B B AR 4 52 Y &t 81 (4R)
#taE: ()

e. RZEBEZRF=ZA=Z+—8  ARARA7THFEE
A E1761,204,0120% FTR% 17 °

RIGERFTEZBME
RZZEZMF_AZ+"8 ' ARFEEAR
ARZZEZ—FNATAFEMANIREERE
e BEEMBBRRTI0FABRRE
WMo BRIREBMESTEIN  RZFEWF =
AZ+"H ARRTELFTMEMBES
FTEl -

RIZHEBIRETE 2GR WRAE LN
ERRBRRULABBRESIMNER - £
HERT AERERBBERETE—F
B BB U

RERREBREFSKLAEEONEM
BRRDAIARITE - BB BRET SR
EFRBHREASRSE TR ORER - RE
AL ENBRERESE N AR
BRABBEERANITE R _F
“RAZHARB - ARBALERERABRE
At 81 % AT A B0 BB RE A 1D /O B AR A o

PRERM AR BBt 8B — T - mWF=R =+
BE+TFRAER  SARAARGEREEES
BR2BEHASEMELKAIEIELNE
Bl XYHEBIEERSEE -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopts and administers a share option scheme which is
currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

The current share option scheme was approved by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 September
2021 (the “2021 Scheme”) in place of the previous share option
scheme of the Company which was adopted in August 2011 and
expired in August 2021 (the “2011 Scheme”). Options granted under
the 2011 Scheme which remained outstanding are set out below.

A summary of the 2021 Scheme is set out below:

The 2021 Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 10 September 2021. Eligible participants of the 2021
Scheme include the employees and Directors of the Group, business
partners, agents, consultants or advisers appointed by the Group.
Under the 2021 Scheme, The subscription price for Shares under the
New Share Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the Offer Date,
which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five (5) consecutive Business Days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (jii) the nominal value of the Share on
the Offer Date. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee upon acceptance of an Option. An offer of the grant of
an Option shall be deemed to have been accepted by an Eligible
Participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the Offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant with
the number of Shares in respect of which the Offer is accepted
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company within twenty-one (21) days from the Offer Date (or such
shorter period referred to in the paragraph above).

No share option was granted under 2021 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) RS @)

On 18 March 2024, the 2021 Scheme be and is hereby terminated RZEZWME=A+N\B ZZE=—F5 8%
upon the Share Award Scheme coming into effect (without prejudice RRHEEEE AR EREABEBEBERZ
to the rights and benefits of and attached to any outstanding options ARIRIE B EAEIE R N ERARITHERE
which have been granted under the share option scheme prior to the % 4 P B A B9 R 25 R AR (A0 ) ©

date hereof (if any)).

2011 scheme —E——F58
Further details of the 2011 Scheme are disclosed in note 34 to the BT ——SHEMNE—FFBEREEY
consolidated financial statements. THM R M 344 55 o
Number of share options
BREHA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period Exercise price
Name or category of 1 April during the during the during the 31 March Date of share of share options  of share options
participant 2024 period period period 2025 options granted* granted granted*
R=BZME R=2-1#f BRE RHBRE BHBRE
SHELZHBIEN mA-H BRgd BT WAh%% =A=+-H REHAE ZITEHR 2T EE
HK$ per share
Ern(ER)
Directors
Bz
Mr. Zhang Chunhua 13,800,000 - - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REERHE —TN\E ZZNE
~NAZTEA ~AAZtHEAE
“Eo)\E
NAZTAA
Ms. Zhang Chunping 13,800,000 - - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
KERLT —E)\E ZE-NE
~AZttA ~NAZTERE
—Zo)\E
VAV I Y =!
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

2011 scheme (Continued)

BEREE @)

—F——F5EER)

Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period Exercise price
Name or category of 1 April during the during the during the 31 March Date of share of share options  of share options
participant 2024 period period period 2025 options granted* granted granted**
R=B-m# R-BZ1%¥ BRE BHERE BHERE
SEERBYEN mA—H HART HATE WA%X¥ =A=+-H B ZITEER 2T EE
HK$ per share
ErnER)
Ms. Chan Mei Yan 300,000 - - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
Hidy 26 June 2028
REBLL it ZE-0E
~NAZTER ~ARZTtR%
“EC)\E
NAZTRA
200,000 S - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
—E-0\E E-NE
TZA+NR +ZA+N\BZE
“Zo)\E
TZATNA
28,100,000 - - - 28,100,000
Employees of
the Group
r5HES
In aggregate 13,160,000 13,160,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
H) I-N\F “I-NF
~AZttA ~NAZTERE
“Eo)\E
NAZTAA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB AR R 8l (|)
2011 scheme (Continued) —E——FFEE)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period Exercise price
Name or category of 1 April during the during the during the 31 March Date of share of share options  of share options
participant 2024 period period period 2025 options granted* granted granted**
RZBZRE R=FZ1F BRE RHBRE RHBRE
SEEABYERN mA—-A HRRT HATE BWA%¥ =B=+-H endel ZITEER ZiTEE™
HKS per share
Er(ER)
Others
Hitr
In aggregate 30,700,000 = = = 30,700,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
At —2-N\F “I-NF
~A-ttA ~NAZTERE
ZZoNE
NAZTAA
34,900,000 = = = 34,900,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
“TN\E “INE
TZATNB TZATN\BZE
—ZoN\&
+=A+NA
65,600,000 = = = 65,600,000
106,860,000 = = — 106,860,000

g The time of acceptance of the share options was within 21 days from the “ BREZEAERAEERESHBBHER

options offer date. The share options granted are subject to certain vesting Z+—HAR - BRIESERESTEZRE - AR
period and vary for each category of participant as specified under the HrBRERAETARSEEENNZE FTAE
respective share option schemes. 2 EBEFTIAR -

& The exercise price of the share options is subject to some adjustments in the o BREZITEEEHRKNARETT  HAQF]
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s MRAEE A MO E A THAE -
share capital.

***  There were no share options granted and exercised during the year. o FRWERE RITEBRE -

On 18 March 2024, the Company had terminated 2011 Scheme. There RZZFEZWME=A+NB  AREIKIEZT

are no longer any share options issued under the 2011 Scheme. ——FHE —E——FFEBEBTETHE
T BE AR -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which
were notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were, pursuant
to the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company, notified to the Company and the Exchange,
were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

EERFERITHRAERRGKREH
RipzEERER

RZEB_RF=A=1+—H BFKRFEMTHK
ABRARBIHEERBBER (TR RES
KEAEGRGI(TFS R EED D EXVED) 2 Ik
REERG T - EEREBEESFRPEGRY
EXVEBETR F870 BB R A& AR KBk 5 P
R KE (BRERBERESLPEEDIEE
BEXREREEIRREBIERIORE)
HALHENARBIRIERE 5N B G 1555352
FRRBEFZELMAZERZ AR - HRE
RRRFRAEBEFETESFRHZITR
STRIEMERNRR MMz ER KRB W
T

RAQRTEBERZEFR

Percentage of
Number of the Company’s

ordinary shares issued share

and underlying capital

Name of Director Notes Capacity and nature of interest shares Note (5)

EARTBEEIT

BEERR BABSL

EENA i BRRESEER HEARIBZEE B &t (5)

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (1) Interest of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 54.98%

REERE —EREH AR

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2)  Beneficial owner 57,098,000 3.76%
RERERSE EnEAA

Ms. Zhang Chunping (38)  Beneficial owner 22,543,430 1.48%
RENFLZ T EmEEA

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (4)  Beneficial owner 500,000 0.03%
PRER 2+ E=mAEA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
(Continued)

BEERFETBRAERRORER
RiZZ XXX E (@)

RAQAEBRZF A (B

Notes: B it -

™) 834,851,294 shares of the Company are held by Briliant Chapter Limited ™ Brilliant Chapter Limited #F 5834,851,294 % 7~ A
and its entire issued share capital is held 20% by Source Mega Limited, a AIR& 1D - BH 2 E B2 % 7R A B Source Mega
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles. The Directors of Brilliant Limited (—fAIR EFTRAMBF MK Z 2 A7)
Chapter Limited are Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang Chunping and the 5 H20% © Brilliant Chapter Limited 2 & = 4 5
sole director of Source Mega Limited is Ms. Zhang Chunping. Ms. Zhang FERERRENZLT - RES¥LZ LT ASource
Chunping is the executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhang Chunhua Mega LimitedZ M —E F « REF X T /AR
is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang RIZHITES - REELAEARETXL T 2N
Chunhua is deemed to be interested in 834,851,294 shares of the Company Lo RBEHFLBERD  REZELERRS
held by Brilliant Chapter Limited. P Brilliant Chapter Limited ¥ & 2 834,851,294 %

RARRGPHEER °

2)  Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the Q)  REZEKA 143,298,000 AR T AR R A
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe Az o W BAAUAEBZEEHMNE
for 13,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a Director of the A 7] R 13,800,000 A A &) A& 10 2 B AR 4 -
Group.

(3)  Ms. Zhang Chunping is entitled to her share options to subscribe for B KEFATUNAEEZ2EZFHAZTAER
13,800,000 shares of the Company and unvested share award for 8,743,430 #813,800,0000% &~ 2~ A i 10 2 B AR #E LA &
shares of the Company in her capacity as a Director of the Group. 8,743,430 R A B R AD 2 M R R AR 1D 12 B o

4)  Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy is entitled to her share options to subscribe for @ BEBXLTUAEECZEZIHZHARE
500,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a Director of the Group. 500,000A8 &A1 B AR 17 2 BE AR 4 -

(5) Based on 1,518,442,426 shares in the Company in issue as at 31 March 5) BER-_ZE-_RF=HA=+—H2Z1518,442,426
2025. RARBBEITRHETE o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors BREMFIEEEIIN RZZBE_RAF=A=1—

A ARAEERETEBTHRABERARAL
BT ABEE 2 L@ RS P E
HEREBEZBHFRBEGIIEXVEETRESSD
HEMGANE MBI 2 ERIRR " 3K
BIEFESN P EEFIFE35216 A TFro 8k - iR
B GEM =48 A 54616 B M & N 7) K& 5
RETZERBIKR -

and chief executive of the Company had an interest or short position
in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was notified to the Company and the
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

2024/25 F ¥ | BREREMBRAR | 49



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, shareholders (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares
of the company

EERERODEF2EN

BREXBREFEIREZERERTBRAR
R n KRR An < #e 2t BOR B | R ER B B8
O RFAEASEEBMERAETNES  ®
FEARBIRKEFRRBEREARRT
ZhRinsEsnmEm 2N - REFTHET
AR F R NA T HEAE (I E QR IR
BMEITZAEEE R EMEMEABRRBER
AF RN 2 T HE -

FTERRZ2EZRKE

RZBE_RAF=ZA=+—H RARRKZH=K
EERMDPHERRIEES KB EKRF EXVED
FOREID B2 BRARTIEE - KA
SEEAAR R AR IR B 5 K B E 4 I 55 3361K 78
BEz2ERMZERIABEZRR(AARE
EREEBITHABRINOT

RAQAEBERFHEARGZFR

Number of
ordinary shares
and underlying

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of shareholder Notes Capacity and nature of interest shares capital Note (3)

HARQTERT

BEERR BARSL

BREE i BRRERSEE HEARBZEE B 7E(3)

Brilliant Chapter Limited (1)  Beneficially owned 834,851,294 54.98%

EmHE

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2) Interest of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 54.98%
REESRE —FRIREH AR 2w

(2)  Beneficial owner 57,098,000 3.76%

BEDEAA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares

of the company (Continued)
Notes:

(1) Brilliant Chapter Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles and its issued share capital is beneficially owned as
to 80% by Mr. Zhang Chunhua and as to 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles (as a nominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping). Mr. Zhang Chunhua is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping.

) Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe
for 13,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a Director of the
Group.

©)) Based on 1,518,442,426 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March
2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
have any interests in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) on the basis of their performance, qualifications and
competence. As incentives for their contributions to the Group,
the employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors)
may also be granted share options by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the share option scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are either determined by the
Remuneration Committee or recommended to the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market remuneration packages for executive and non-
executive Directors of listed issuers in Hong Kong.

FERRZESREAE @)

RAQBEBRLEERMDZITFR (E)

Htat:

(1) Brilliant Chapter Limited /& — & 74 28 & 8 2L M
ARSI 2BRETAR EE2HEBITRA
R & 3 5L 4 B 2= % A80% & B Source Mega
Limited (—FAIR B EMEFE F MK 2 A7)

(EAREFLLINRBAN)HEE20% - REE
TFERRERLLTZHA -

() 9 & S A 7143,298,000% A& A &) B% 19 A 1 (&
ARESS o AN WU AEBM L EZH5NHE
7] 2R % 13,800,000 % A2 R A% 17 2 AR 48 -

@) RER-ZE-_AF=A=+-—H21518442,426
BARNRBEITRMDTHE -

EENBENHEB &S

FABEFLAARAZEBEBRRABFS
B2BMEAER RGEM LR AR EARE
BEBEXNBRFAAEBNBRFIELTH
ERATAED  EXAKEZATEIMNE
fib F) 2 By 2% -

i < 3% %R

AEEzHFHZES(FHERESDERE
BRI -BEMENFHEANEEREE 2B
TR - AKBEREREMABES (BREBIUIF
HITESRFRITESR) MU EARRIRER
B THRTEREAESRSFH ALK
BATERRI 2R -

FMEREERBEASEZZERE BAAKXR
ARBBELTETANTEERIFATES
AEmTSFHENETES MEeRAE
SeRfgs-
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on
7 March 2000 and has formulated and from time to time amended its
written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures, review of the Group’s
financial information and review of the Group’s relationship with its
auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Ms. Huang Jingshu and Mr. Peng Yin.

The Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of the
opinion that such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors considered that the Company has complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under review.

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take all necessary
actions to ensure the compliance with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

AUDITOR

On 27 August 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) has
retired as the auditor of the Company. Upon the recommendation of
the audit committee of the Company, Infinity CPA Limited (“Infinity
CPA") was proposed as the auditor of the Company at the next
annual general meeting. On 20 September 2025, the shareholders
of the Company resolved to appoint Infinity CPA as the auditor of the
Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by Infinity CPA. Infinity CPA shall retire in
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the reappointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong 27 June 2025
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ERERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assuring the conduct of management of
the Company as well as protecting the interests of all Shareholders.
The good corporate governance principles adopted by the Company
emphasise a quality board for leading and controlling of the Company,
effective internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
Shareholders.

The Stock Exchange issued the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules which sets
out the principles and the code provisions which listed issuers are
expected to apply and comply with.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has applied the principles as set out in the then CG Code that
was effective for the year which were considered to be relevant to
the Company and has complied with most of the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code save for certain deviations,
details of which are explained in the relevant paragraphs of this
corporate governance report.

As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report, the Board has
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the CG Code during
the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group will keep on reviewing
its corporate governance standards on a timely basis and the Board
endeavours to take all necessary actions to ensure the compliance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions in securities of the Company (the “Required Standard
of Dealings”). Following specific enquiries to all the Directors, each
of them has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Required
Standard of Dealing and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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ERERWE

INSIDER INFORMATION

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside information
which sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information.

The policy provides guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant
employees of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent
the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements.
[t also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems to
identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

° defines the requirements of periodic financial and operational
reporting to the Board and Company Secretary to enable them
to assess inside information and make timely disclosures, if
necessary;

o controls the access to inside information by employees on a
need-to-know basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality of the
inside information before it is properly disclosed to public;

° procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders,
including shareholders, investors, analysts, etc. in ways which
are in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented procedures to
handle enquiries from external parties related to the market rumours
and other Group’s affairs.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing
the relevant information on the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited’s website and the Company’s website.
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CULTURE

The Board believes that a healthy corporate culture underpins the
long-term business, economic success and sustainable growth of the
Group. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term
sustainable performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate
citizen. The Company is committed to developing a positive and
progressive culture that is built on its purpose, vision, mission and
values. The followings are the key features of the Company’s culture:

Integrity

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all required to
act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required standards and
norms are explicitly set out in the training materials for all new staff
and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee
handbook (including therein the Group’s code of conduct), the
anticorruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability
is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a
strong, productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the
best talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the
Company’s strategy in the business development and management
are to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while having
due considerations from environment, social and governance aspects.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new employees are
required to attend orientation and training programs so that they may
better understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn
relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In
addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts to
provide training to our management personnel to improve their relevant
knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose,
values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall management

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the business
of the Group, formulating the Group’s overall strategic direction and
corporate governance and maintaining appropriate levels of review,
challenge and guidance in its relationship with the management. The
management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day management and administration of the
Group.

The Board is provided with the updates from management to give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the performance, recent
development and prospects of the Group on a regular basis. The
Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all matters material to
the Group and discharges its responsibilities on corporate governance
either by itself or the Board Committees set out in Code Provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code which include the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practice on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

3. 1o review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and employees;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition
During the year under review, Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang
Chunping were continuously appointed as executive Directors.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, Ms. Huang Jingshu and Mr. Peng Yin were
continuously appointed as independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”) during the year.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
All Directors, gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his/
her duties effectively and efficiently. In full compliance with Rules
5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company had in place
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. They provided the Company with
diversified industry expertise, advised the management on strategic
development and assumed that the Board maintains high standard of
compliance with financial and other mandatory reporting requirements
as well as provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Board as at 31 March 2025 comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Zhang Chunping (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
Ms. Huang Jingshu
Mr. Peng Yin

The names, biographical details of the Directors and the relationships
among them are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

An updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions

from time to time is posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website from time to time.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to
good corporate governance. The Company has in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that
independent views are available.

The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one third
of the Board being INEDs, and the members of the Audit Committee
are all INEDs exceed the independence requirements under the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Audit Committee are all chaired by INEDs. The remuneration of
INEDs are subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each INED is assessed upon his appointment and
annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at the
Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary.

The INEDs have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and
the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at
the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby INEDs can express their views in an open
manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances requires.

The Company has reviewed the implementation of the mechanisms in
relation to the Board Independence and considered it to be effective
during the reporting period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

During the year under review, the Chairman was responsible for
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly. In doing so,
the Chairman ensured that good corporate governance practices were
adhered to and proper procedures were established and followed,
and that all Directors were properly briefed and received all relevant
information prior to each Board meeting. The Chairman was also
responsible for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies
of the Group. The Board considers that the current arrangement is
adequate in view of the size and complexity of the Group’s operations.
The Board will, nonetheless, review the business growth of the Group
and locate suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of the chief executive
officer when considered essential and will continue setting out a
clear division of responsibilities at the board level and the day-to-day
management team to ensure a proper balance of power and authority
within the Company.

The role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and
exercised by different individual which complies with the CG Code
provision C.2.1.

Board meetings

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. Notice of at least 14
days for all Board meetings were given to all Directors, who were all
given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion.

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for each meeting,
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the
meetings are observed. The finalised agenda and accompanying
Board papers are then sent to all Directors prior to each meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the individual attendance record of
each Director is as follows:
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Directors Attendance
= R &
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) 5/5
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping 5/5
REYL L

Independent non-executive Directors

BIYBTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 5/5
BRE B X+

Ms. Huang Jingshu 5/5
BEWE L L

Mr. Peng Yin 5/5
ZIRFTE

Every director should ensure that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the issuer’s affairs and should not accept the appointment
if he cannot do so.

The Board held five regular meetings for the year ended 31 March
2025. During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discussed
and formulated the overall strategies of the Company, monitored
financial performances and discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, as well as discussed and decided on other
significant matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings (Continued)

Apart from the regular Board meetings of the year, the Board met on
other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required. The Directors would receive the agenda and documents
to be tabled for consideration in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary recorded the proceedings of each Board
meeting in details by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions
made by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting
views expressed (if any). Draft Board minutes were circulated to all
Directors for comments and approval as soon as practicable after the
meeting. All minutes are open for inspection by the Directors at any
reasonable time on their request. All Directors have access to relevant
and timely information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner.

During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the
business performance of the Group to the Directors, so as to ensure
that they had appropriate understanding of the Group’s business and
of their duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and the
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

Delegation by the Board
The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
which can be reserved to the Board and delegated to management.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and senior management while reserving certain key matters
for its approval. The Board is responsible for the approval and
monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies, approval
of business plans; evaluating the performance of the Company and
overseeing its management. It is also responsible for promoting
the success of the Company and its businesses by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ work commitments outside the group

Directors are required to disclose in a timely manner to the Company
Secretary for any change, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
and the identity of such public companies or organisations. Such
information is disclosed in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

The Company provides newly appointed Directors with briefings
on the businesses of the Group and training materials on corporate
governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities and other matters
under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations.

Directors’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover
the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed annually.

Term of appointment and re-election

Details of the terms of appointment of the Directors are disclosed in
the section “Directors’ service contracts” of the report of the Directors
in this annual report. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a package of
orientation materials detailing the duties and responsibilities of
Directors under the GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association,
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong
Kong.

Every Director is aware that, before accepting appointment as a
Director, he/she must be able to give sufficient time and attention to
the affairs of the Company.

All directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Term of appointment and re-election (Continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Under the CG Code provision C.1.4, all Directors had participated in
continuous professional development with respect to directors’ duties,
relevant programs and seminars or had perused reading materials and
updated information in relation to business and industrial development.
The Directors had provided the relevant training records for the year to
the Company.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements and the governance policies of the Group.
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TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the individual training record of
each Director is as follows:

ESRIIRBEER®@

HE_Z_AF=A=+t—RHILFE REF
ZERIEINFE RN T :

Directors Training/ote 1
- & Bl
Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) v
SREREXRE(EE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping v
REF LT

Independent non-executive Directors

BAFBITES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy v
BRERZ T

Ms. Huang Jingshu v
BEHAT L L

Mr. Peng Yin v
TIREE

Note: Btat -

(1) This includes attending briefings, seminars, conferences, forum relevant to (1) BELNERQFNINPABTHREE ZH

the directors’ duties and responsibilities, the Group’s business, development,
strategies, etc, arranged by the Company or external organisations or
reading regulatory/corporate governance updates.

EREM AEBLE  BE - HEARHH
& HHE BER - RE- REEEE D
EEATHAR -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
process and communications among Board members and with the
Shareholders and the management, and advising the Board and its
committees on all corporate governance matters. He reports to the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer and her
selection, appointment or dismissal shall be a Board decision.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

Throughout the year under review, Mr. Chan Koon Fat was
continuously appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has
taken no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the year under review.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy. The policy
sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business and
compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies
of the Board is reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should
ensure that its changes in composition will not result in any undue
interference. The Board members should possess appropriate
professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing duties
and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member
of the Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
or professional experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the
Company’s various business development and management. The
Board has to review the policy concerning diversity of Board members
and to disclose the policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report, including any quantitative targets and standards
and its progress with policy implementation.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

Currently, the composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having skills, experience and expertise complementing the
business operations and development of the Group and from a
variety of backgrounds. There is diversity of education, professional
background, functional expertise, gender, age, culture and industrial
experience.

EETZTLBRW@

BAl  REFABRAKEXBLERER
HEHBEKNRE ERERERAEXETRE
ROHEFEHERCEIRFTE - BRESF
MEE  FEES - FEME - 15 Fie
MERTRERERZ T -

Composition of the Board

EZEEK

Gender

PRI

B Executive
Director
WITES

m Independent
Non-executive
Director
BIUIERTES

(As at 31 March 2025)
(R=Z=-HF=A=+—H)

As of the date of this report, the Company has a Board and the
Nomination Committee consisting of at least one director of a different
gender, in accordance with the CG Code.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior
management) for the relevant period is 30:12. The total gender
diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue to
maintain the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender
ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with
the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

m 30-39 30E395%
B 40-49 40ZE495%
50-59 50ZE595%

m Female Z 1%

m Male 5t

BEARESEH  ARFREBEEXEATH
REEFERREEZEE B TRMENNE
D—REEHEK -

BTz
REMER AT (EEBRERE) WBLL
FIA30 12 - AEEMBEERTE  BA
EEGRERBETHSS T - AR
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B -
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

° the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

° the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group’s liquidity position;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and other factors that the Board deems relevant.
The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are non-executive or independent
non-executive Directors; which the list of the chairman and members
of each Board committee is set out below.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resource to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2005 with written terms of
reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Peng Yin (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy and Ms. Huang
Jingshu.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

Directors’ remuneration policy

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out
the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to executive
Directors and non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration structure
that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain qualified
Directors who can manage and lead the Company in achieving its
strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s performance and
sustainable growth, and to provide Directors with a balanced and
competitive remuneration. The remuneration policy is, therefore, aiming
at being competitive but not excessive. To achieve this, remuneration
package is determined with reference to a matrix of factors, including
the individual performance, qualification and experience of Directors
concerned and prevailing industry practice. It will be reviewed and,
if necessary, updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Directors and senior management’s remuneration

Details of directors’ emoluments, five highest paid individuals and the
remuneration of the members of the senior management during the
year under review are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for
the relevant period by band is set out below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESZET®W

BEERSHREIEE R FHEN
EEREBEENESZHE  AR2EZaFHA
TREREERENENTFMHOFBEHNEE
B 75 R R P 11 K212 o

ERMRAAZANS R REEEBXE (T
BREF)NFMFERINIDOT  FHEINAK
FRIEZLRSRERE|—F -

Number of Individual
For the year ended 31 March

AE
HZEZE=A=+—HLEFE
Remuneration Band (in HK$) 2025 2024
& EM 4B B (78 7T) —FE-hEF —F-MF
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 %) _

1,000,001 £ 1,500,000
1,600,001 to 2,000,000
1,500,001 £ 2,000,000
2,000,001 to 2,500,000
2,000,001 # 2,500,000
2,500,001 to 3,000,000
2,500,001 £ 3,000,000

During the year under review, one Remuneration Committee meetings
were held to review the remuneration structure of the Directors.
The individual attendance record of each Remuneration Committee
member is as follows:

REBFE FHEEERT - REHAR
NEENHFHIRE FHEZESEXNERE
HEG# ZCEMT

Members Attendance

B8 HERE

Mr. Peng Yin (Committee Chairman) 11
CREE(ZEEFE)

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11

BRER 2+

Ms. Huang Jingshu 11

EAET R

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2024/25



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Directors and senior management’s remuneration
(Continued)

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 March 2025 to review the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, to make recommendations to the Board on determining
key performance indicators (“KPIs”) (both financial and sustainable
development goals) in connection with the annual remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and the senior management, to
approve long term incentive (i.e. share awards) with reference to KPIs
in order to attract, retain and motivate executives and key employees
serving any member of the Group, and to review succession plans and
to complete annual review of the terms of reference.

Nomination Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Nomination Committee on 29 March 2012 with written terms of
reference. The Nomination Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Huang Jingshu (Chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy and Mr. Peng Yin,
nominated on 27 June 2025 and one executive Director, Ms. Zhang
Chunping. For the Reporting Year, the Company has maintained
an effective Board comprising members of different genders, age,
experience, cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and
know-how. As at the date of this report, the Company has a Board
and the Nomination Committee consisting of at least one director
of a different gender. The Board considers that the gender diversity
in respect of the composition of the Board and the Nomination
Committee, taking into account the business model and specific
needs of the Company, is satisfactory and in compliance of the CG
Code.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy and making recommendations to
the Board on nomination and appointment of Directors and Board
succession, developing selection procedures for nomination
candidates, reviewing the size, structure and composition of the
Board, as well as assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

To enhance the nomination process for a director candidate, a
Nomination Policy was adopted as a guidance on the selection
process and board succession planning. The Nomination Committee
utilises various methods for identifying director candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members, management, and
professional search firms and may review of resume and job history,
conduct personal interviews and verification of professional and
personal references or perform the background checks, etc. On
evaluation of the director candidates including incumbents and
candidates nominated by the Shareholders, the Board and the
Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate
has the qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc.
that can add to and complement the range of skills, experience and
background of the existing Directors and may consider the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director candidate
in recommending to the Board potential new Director, or the continued
service of existing Director:

the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

° proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment; skills that are
complementary to those of the existing Board;

° the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

° an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
of a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

and

° independence as required by the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
of Directors. The individual attendance record of each Nomination
Committee member is as follows:

ESZET®W

REESE (R

REEFE REZE®
BAEFEHRE AR
ZEEERERELFES

BIT—R&ZF N
KNBCEHRK - 125
% RCERIAT

Members Attendance
4= R
Ms. Huang Jingshu (Committee Chairman) 1/1
BEMS L (ZEEETE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping 11
REFX L

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
PREB L+

Mr. Peng Yin (nominated on 27 June 2025) 0/0

CREEM_Z_RAFNA-_TLRERSR)

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 7 March 2000
and has formulated and from time to time amended its written terms
of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG
Code. The existing Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of
the Audit Committee), Ms. Huang Jingshu and Mr. Peng Yin.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and
review of the Group’s relationship with its auditors.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under review.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)
The individual attendance record of each Audit Committee member is
as follows:

)
BRERBERKESEHEER ZLHWT

Members Attendance
RE R &
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Committee Chairman) 4/4
BREBZL(ZEE2FE)

Ms. Huang Jingshu 4/4
BEWAT L L

Mr. Peng Yin 4/4
TIREE

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results during the year ended 31 March 2025 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been
made.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering
and reviewing the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditors, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material
adverse effect on the Group.

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of annual

audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors, amounted to
HK$780,000 and HK$60,000, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Group, Infinity CPA
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group
in order to safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
ensure maintenance of proper books and records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and
ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a set of internal control policies and
procedures. The management and various departments conduct
periodic self-assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control
policies and procedures. Besides, the Company has engaged
an external independent internal control consultant to perform
independent review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal controls systems (of the Group including
material financial, operational, compliance controls) during the year
under review.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted an annual
review on the overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The external internal control
consultant also reported to the Board on their factual findings and
recommendation for improvements on the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The Board considers its risk
management and internal control systems effective and adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to preventing, detecting, and reporting to
any levels of bribery and corruption. The Anti-Corruption Policy is
provided principles for all directors, officers, and employees to operate
conduct business with integrity and to reduce the risk of corruption
and bribery. The Group conducts periodic and systematic fraud risk
assessments to mitigate fraud risks identified internally and externally.
Proper trainings and briefings related to bribery, corruption, conflicts of
interest, money laundering and financing of terrorism, non-compliance
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance will also be provided to all
employees.

Whistleblowing

A Whistleblowing Policy is provided guidance on the procedure of
reporting allegations of any fraud and misconduct, malpractice or
irregularity by employees and stakeholders. All filed whistleblowing
reports and the identity of the whistleblowers are treated in a strictly
confidential manner in accordance with the procedures set out in the
policy. The matter raised may be investigated internally and referred to
the Board, or be referred to external lawyers or auditors.

Once the investigation is completed, a report including the impact
of the matter reported and an action plan will be prepared by
the Audit Committee. Disciplinary and other appropriate actions
will be determined by the responsible line management while
recommendations will be made by the Audit Committee for the
Board'’s final decision on the actions required.

No incident of fraud or misconduct that has material effect on the
Group’s financial statements or overall operations was reported during
the relevant period. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by
the Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

As required under code provision D.2.5 of the CG code, the Company
has established an internal audit function. The Company does not
have an internal audit department after disposal its subsidiary, Brillink
Bank Corporation Limited, on 5 October 2023. The Board has
reviewed, on an annual basis, the need for an internal audit function
and is of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, as opposed to diverting resources to establish
a separate internal audit department, it would be more cost effective
to appoint external independent professionals to perform independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board
will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

General meeting

As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at Shareholders’
meeting on each substantial issue including the re-election of individual
directors. All resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meeting
will be conducted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the
poll voting results will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.com) and the Company’s website (www.cbg.com.hk).
During the year ended 31 March 2025, an annual general meeting of
the Company was held on 20 September 2024 (the “2024 AGM”) to
seek the Shareholders’ approval on, among other things, the granting
the general mandates to issue and repurchase the Company’s shares
and re-election of the Directors. The Board member’s attendance
record is set out as follows:

A0 &R = % i €

BRIBDEERTRZTFRE X ED.25KZ K
T ARRERIAIBEZNGE - R=ZFE==
F+ARBAQE HEENE A FBrilink Bank
Corporation Limited & + F 3 & N 5B E| 1% &
M- ZEgBFRITRERERTALE
ZIEE YRBUAEENRE EHKHE
REHENS  BEHAERIRAITEZX
B ZENEBLEEATHAEENR
BERERABELRRFN T ERERIEEE
TELEREFTEKANE - BEWL - &
EEREBE VP EFRISEFTER LA

A -

RREFRIREEBE

BRXE
EAERERIFNZRENNEE2— &
BEAESHEBRERENES)BERR
ARELERBUYUARAZRRE -FIEERRE
AELEREMIZR BB EGEM L Al
MEEFRARE BERRAERBEBR
Fff 48 35 (www.hkexnews.com) & 78 A & 48 ik
(www.cbg.comhk) E A ¥ - BiE T - A F
ZAZ+—HLEFE  ARARZZTZMFA
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

General meeting (Continued)

Directors

E=

IREREMNRREERE®E

BRERKXE (&)

Attendance

HERE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping (Chief Executive Officer)
RENYR L (BEEHTE)

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
R B 2+

Ms. Huang Jingshu
BEWAT L L

Mr. Peng Yin
ZIRFEE

Pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should attend the annual general meeting of the Company and he
should invite the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the nomination Committee and any other committees (as
appropriate) to attend. Pursuant to code provision C.1.6 of the CG
Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors should attend the general meetings of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Procedures and right for Shareholders to convene
extraordinary general meeting

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) are subject to the Articles,
and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM
Listing Rules:

1. If any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at the general
meetings of the Company, such Shareholder(s) may submit a
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition.

2. The Board should within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM to be
held within a further 21 days. If the Board fails to do so,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 64 of the Articles.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may
write to the company secretary of the Company at Lot 2288, DD129,
Lau Fau Shan Road, Yuen Long, N.T., Hong Kong with effect from 21
July 2025.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The provisions for a Shareholder to propose a person for election as
a Director are laid down in article 113 of the Articles of Association.
No person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of
the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office
or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period during
which such notices are given shall be at least seven clear days and the
period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day immediately after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such intention and end no later than seven days
before the date of such general meeting.

Procedure for putting forward proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals
or move resolutions at Shareholders’ meeting under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make
proposals or move a resolution may, however, convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures and rights for Shareholders to
convene extraordinary general meeting” set out above.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Investors relations and communication with Shareholders
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels including
general meetings and corporate communications such as
announcements, quarterly, interim and annual reports and circulars.
Latest information of the Group is also available on the Company’s
website.

The Company has adopted its Shareholders’ communications
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors and all
stakeholders are welcomed. Shareholders may send written enquiries
to the Company, for the attention of the Company Secretary, by fax:
(852) 2838 2922, e-mail at ir@cbg.com.hk or mail to Lot 2288, DD129,
Lau Fau Shan Road, Yuen Long, N.T., Hong Kong with effect from 21
July 2025. Such written enquiries or proposal with full name, contact
details and identification must deposit and send to said various
communication channels.

Any enquires in relation to the Company’s shareholdings, share
transfer or registration may contact the Company’s share registrar.
Their contact details are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between lItself and Its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements; (i)
the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing
a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views
with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the Group available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv)
the Company’s website offering communication channel between the
Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters; and (vi) attending meetings with analysts, which led by our
executive Directors with existing and potential investors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Investors relations and communication with Shareholders
(Continued)

The Company held its 2024 AGM on 20 September 2024, which was
attended by Shareholders, including their proxies or representatives,
and shares voted represent 100% of the total issued shares of the
Company. All resolutions proposed at the 2024 AGM were passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
Shareholders engagement in the general meeting held during the year,
the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders communication policy has
been properly implemented during 2024 and is effective.
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(N INFINITY

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA BRILLIANT GLOBAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Brilliant Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 224, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Infinity CPA Limited

Room 1501, 15/F, Olympia Plaza
255 King’s Road, North Point
Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS FARETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, AREFZEHEANTREZEAE  Re Y
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial APGEVBRRBETRREZNFIE - &%
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in EEHEMNEEHUAEGRAVERREEETE
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a KBS ERAER AT THELSE
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a HEBHEXRER -

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: S EMEFT AT R BB RE TS EB o
T

. Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss . BEAFEEFAEGZ cMEEME
(“FVTPL)

. Impairment assessment on trade receivables and amounts due . B REWRR N B AR IE 2
from related companies B FT

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEESEE EEETERB NN EERARETSE

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

BAFEEFARSZEMEEMRE

We identified the valuation of financial assets at FVTPL Our procedures in relation to valuation of financial assets at
measured at level 3 fair value measurement as a key FVTPL included:

audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the ZEEMEATEENFABEZZEREEHENEFE
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the #&:

judgments involved in the valuation.

EEERERE-EBATEEFENRAFEETAER o Understood the internal control of the Group in
LEeMEEME#RNABRESEE RAAZRGEHRY relation to the valuation of the fair value of financial
AV RREENEZUHREESROHAL - assets at FVTPL;

. T BEBABERATEEMABREZEREE
As at 31 March 2025, financial assets at FVTPL NEEEBEHANIDIES

classified as level 3 fair value measurement amounted
to approximately HK$240,934,000, representing 72.12% e Obtaining understanding of the entity’s valuation

of the net assets of the Group. Details of these financial process and adoption of the key assumptions and
instruments are set out in notes 19 and 41 to the estimations;
consolidated financial statements. . THRERNMGHEBRERAMEMNERMER RMEE:

R-E-RAF=A=+—8 2EARFE=BAFEE
EMEAFEEFAER 2SR E E /240,934,000 o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and

TTofh BERBEEEFEMNTI2% - 2SRt TAME objectivity of the independent external valuation
BENEGEE P FmERM TR - expert, taking into account its experience and

qualifications and business interests with the Group;
o BB EEEROA L eI REBREY
ZEAKH BERkE BEEENEBKN:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

FARETEE

FAEFESEH@®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESETERRNAEEARENER

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (Continued)

BAFEEFARSZEMEEMGER)

Management engaged independent external valuation
expert to apply valuation techniques to determine the fair
values of the financial assets at FVTPL and that are not
quoted in active markets. These valuation techniques, in
particular those that included significant unobservable
inputs, involved subjective judgments and assumptions.
The sensitivity of the assumptions used may have material
impact on the valuation of these financial instruments.
EREZRBYIIEBAEERKAGERMEE Y BE
BHISHMENBAFEEFAERZEREENRTE
B ZE[ERN  LHERBEEARTUHRH AR
BEERN PR EBHEREBR - FTARKROGURE
FEUHZEeRITANMGEELEEARATE -

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and assumptions adopted by the
management and the independent external valuation
expert to estimate the fair values of financial
instruments;
AEEREERBUIIEFEERAAERIAR
FEEMRANGERERRZNHES T

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness
and relevance of key assumptions, parameters
and inputs used based on the knowledge and
understanding of the financial instruments;
BREESHERMTANMB N TR HEREKRR -
2 R ABBENSEMN R AR IEEL TG ERE
B RE

Evaluating and assessing the appropriateness of
the key parameters used in the valuations with
assistance from internal valuation expert;
EABHEZEROB TIERTEHERAE
Z28HEEMN

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the fair value
calculations; and
RERNTEEFENRBEERE R

Reviewing and assessing the related disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements.
eI A AR MM FTER MR E -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B ESt S IHE)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETSE ESETERRUNMEEREETSE

Impairment assessment on trade receivables and amounts due from related companies

EZBUWRMR BB QT RE 2B EFS

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
and amounts due from related companies as a key audit impairment assessment of trade receivables and amounts
matter due to its significance to the Group’s consolidated due from related companies included:

financial position and the involvement of significant TEHEEEREIRIER R EWAERL AR RIEZ
management estimates and judgement in evaluation the /Uiﬁpﬂfﬂél']%*?&l*’j%

expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance of these accounts at

the end of the reporting period. ° obtaining an understanding of the Group’s procedures

ZEEHE SR KRR R E W QR 5KIE 2 BEFT S on credit period given to counterparty by the

E%%EU REAREFEE REAEYE BESEGESMBNKLR management;

WEZEM MERBEMRTHZEHEENTEREEE o« EEETHR ESEBEBEERATRIHAIEEH

BIEBEEBEDBEEIREREEE MR AL - HAZ Fr

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and e checking, on a sample basis, the aging profile of the

amounts due from related companies are approximately receivables as at 31 March 2025 to the underlying

HK$29,641,000 and HK$82,174,000 respectively. Refer to financial records and post year-end settlements to

notes 21 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements bank receipts;

respectively s MEBERER-ZTE-AF-A=-T—RHZEWHKIEAER
BHRKER L EWBAE AR RENREES DA Mﬁﬁﬁéﬁi% B RL ER A RIRI TR FRAEH

29,641,000 7t [282,174,0005 T * 35 Bl 2 B & & B 7%

R M FE21%24 o e inquiring of management for the status of each of the

material balances of receivables which were past due
at the end of the reporting period and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting
evidence, such as understanding ongoing business
relationship with the debtors based on trade records,
checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the
debtors;

e MEREARBSHARCBHANGEST KEKRFHIE
BRI WEBEBEBNRE  JINREES

CHRTHREGBBACRNBEXRKEER REfE
BANELMEBEECHBAREEBANEME
*x
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

FARETSE

FAEFFEE®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETERRNMEEARENSE

Impairment assessment on trade receivables and amounts due from related companies (Continued)

B 5 1B U AR 7 % HE Ut BA Bk 8 B SRR 2 R ME R A (AR

Management performed periodic assessment on
recoverability of the trade receivables and amounts due
from related companies and the sufficiency of provision
for impairment based on the information including shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively/individually
assessed for likelihood of recovery of the relevant debtors,
and taking into account its past due aging category.
IR E T AT (2 S M WA R K B W B B R B SRIE Y ]
WEMHEARREEENT SN  FHOERAREER
REE - RE BETERREEAKBAAT R - WE
EH B HABRE R R -

Management has engaged an independent external
valuation expert to determine the calculation of ECL on the
trade receivables and amounts due to related companies.
EREZRBEVIINEGEERANETE SRR R E
Wk AR ZIENTEREEHIEFTE -

for the independent external valuer’s competence,
capacities and objectivity, evaluating by taking
account of its experience and qualifications;
RERBIINEHEMOLR N ER - FHEETEE
BENREHM:

for evaluation of the reasonableness of the Group’s
ECL models, and involved our internal valuation
expert to assist us in examining the model input
used by management assisted by the external expert
engaged by the Group to form such judgments,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data, evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information including
the economic variables and assumptions used in
each of the economic scenarios and their probability
weightings and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowances;

R ESERHBEEEFREANGEN  UE
EENNBEEZRGBH TEHNEREE E5E
ZHEH NS Z K BT P A B AR B g A BB DA X
ZEHE  RRASELEOBENERMN - FTHE
FEs BEREEEAREEATERARATEEER (2
REKBESSTHBNKLEZE RRRK&KEBEM
EETES AR  UARFEREREBREER 2
BFEEEEERFRENTR:

testing the arithmetical accuracy of the computation in
evaluation of ECL; and
BABBHEEBRTM TENBERE: &

evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness of
the model and assumption.
AEEARBRENEGEERGENE -
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OTHER MATTER Hihs18

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended BEEEEE T _NME=A=+—HILEE
31 March 2024 was audited by another auditor who expressed an NS HmARAE B EEEsT ER

unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 27 ZEMEARNAZTEARZERETBR
June 2024, REREBRBER -
OTHER INFORMATION HiggEH

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. EATNESEYHEHMERETE HEMERE
The other information comprises the information included in the annual BHERERANNEL  BEX-BESEH®E
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and MELNEENZHBEHEFRFHER

our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover = 4R
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance ®EE
B
R

EMBRENERL TREHLME
MTHEMEREREMPANE

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, MEEUESBHRROERMS &K
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, EFEHEHMEN  YHEEBEREEHM
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with BREDHGESMBE RN ESZEEZBIE

the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in FRRTHRAOBAFEEAEKBIUTZESE
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on KERPRMAIER - ERNEZEHITZIIE -
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material MEEREEMERNEIRE RERMEM - T

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that EEEHREAEMEEET -t BF8EF
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. RS -

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE ZEEREZZEETMGESWHIHR
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED BEREZ2EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated EEEXNKREAGTMASBENES
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance s et EAREEARIEHKERT
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the BEZESAMHBEER  EEMA T 275
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, ERNBURETESRZANE 7 NIPEEE
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary BIRGEMBRE ZHEETFERREEED
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that HEAATMENME KERE I -

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are HRBUGEEVBRERE EFBETHEH &
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going ERBELEHNE N TEEBEBERX NHE

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern HFERKESEBNSEIE  UWRERIFERS
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors BestHER BIEEEEEE SE£EHEE
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no WIEIRE (B EEMEBERNERTE -

realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 37 % BT #R 5

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

ESEERZEeNB TEITEEE
MRS BRENBE -

=
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming to
express an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Infinity CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Kin Ming

Practising certificate number PO7802

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FERmREMEEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # = —

“HEZA=+T-HLEE

2025 2024
—E-REF —E-OF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
B & TExT T
Continuing operations REREER
Revenue Y 25 6 107,372 91,254
Cost of sales SHE R AR (86,318) (72,408)
Gross profit EF 21,054 18,846
Other gains and losses, net H ks RSB F R 7 343 (8,489)
Selling expenses HERX (43) (39)
Administrative expenses TERAX (10,765) (37,568)
Finance costs W58 A 8 (497) (484)
Impairment losses reversed/(recognised) R IE B H =z BEBER ZRE
under expected credit loss model, net EERERE (ERREEE)
L] 42(a) 2,445 (23,803)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRfAGEFR(BA) 9 12,537 (51,537)
Income tax expense Fris#im X 10 (2,318) (3,053)
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRARBLEREXREZ
continuing operations A (B 8E) 10,219 (54,590)
Discontinued operation BRIEEEETE
Loss for the year from discontinued FARBERIELEER 2
operation &5 18 47 - (21,505)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(BE) 10,219 (76,095)
Other comprehensive income: Hit ZHEUas:
Items that are or may be reclassified AL AERREE 7 EE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoHEE -
Exchange differences on translation of ~ ¥ EBINEREL 2
foreign operations b5 =% (578) (1,424)
Reclassification adjustments for foreign ~ HE&EFINES N EFH H A HE
operations disposed - (146)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ F R H th & & 518 (578) (1,570)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRZMEUS (Ei8) 45
for the year 9,641 (77,665)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FRESRHMEERESR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-hHF — T4
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & TExT T T
Profit/(loss) for the year BiLFERER(EE) :
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — RRABEAE A 10,068 (68,926)
— Non-controlling interests — JEERE R 151 (7,169)
10,219 (76,095)
Profit/(loss) for year attributable to ZAQTHEAEIERBEUTZ
owners of the Company arising FREF(FHE) :
from:
— continuing operations — BFEREER 10,068 (54,590)
— discontinued operation — BRIEEEER - (14,330)
10,068 (68,926)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EIEERZTEKES (EiE)
for the year attributable to: FER-C
— Owners of the Company — RAREEAA 9,501 (70,555)
— Non-controlling interests — JEERR 140 (7,110)
9,641 (77,665)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF (EH#8) 14
From continuing and discontinued REZFERBKIEEEEK
operations
— Basic (HK cents) — BEARGEW 0.69 4.73)
— Diluted (HK cents) — EE OB 0.68 @.73)
From continuing operations REBEREER
— Basic (HK cents) — EARGEAD 0.69 (3.75)
— Diluted (HK cents) — BE OB 0.68 (3.75)
From discontinued operation RECKRIEBEER
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — AR EE W) - (0.98)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMt S AR E R AMBEE 2 AR

financial statements. 3‘}
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FEBRR R

As at 31 March 2025 R -_HF=H=+—H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024
—E-hHF —ZT_opmE
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 2 F#&xT T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz WE K& 15 593 585
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE 16 - 7
Intangible assets mEEE 17 713 839
Goodwill EES 18 1,823 =
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEEFAERZ
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) SREE 19 240,934 240,994
Total non-current assets B EEEE 244,063 242,495
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 20 2,928 2,681
Trade receivables B 5 W R 21 29,641 435
Loan receivables e E = 22 - 10,491
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFIE &R
receivables H b fE Y 3R IE 23 1,039 1,391
Amount due from a former associate JE UK Bl B & A R) 2 3R 24(a) 1,606 1,235
Amounts due from related companies JFE Ui 78 Bt A B FRIE 24(b) 82,174 85,986
Prepaid tax TEfT I8 102 30
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 25 27,315 15,248
144,805 117,497
Non-current assets classified as held DEABELNERIERBDEE
for sale 26 = 5,200
Total current assets mEBEEHE 144,805 122,697
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables Z O EMNERRK 27 25,213 575
Other payables and accruals b JE S B K FE R U 28 3,647 3,851
Contingent consideration payable JER S ARKAE 30 1,560 —
Contract liabilities GHEE 29 377 4,314
Amounts due to related companies JET B AR 2 A 24(b) 2,800 10,273
Amounts due to directors R EEZRE 24(c) 20,181 20,158
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 - 65
Tax payables e BT 684 1,864
Total current liabilities mEBAaEAeE 54,462 41,100
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 90,343 81,597
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEBRR R

As at 31 March 2025 R -_HF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RF —EF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 2 TEx TATT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERBERADAE
LIABILITIES 334,406 324,092
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE
Contingent consideration payable TS ARE 30 340 —
NET ASSETS BEERE 334,066 324,092
EQUITY s
Share capital A A 33 151,844 145,724
Reserves {15 181,749 178,368
Equity attributable to owners ADTEEAEIGER
of the Company 333,593 324,092
Non-controlling interests SEE IR E S 473 —
TOTAL EQUITY ERBHE 334,066 324,092

HREVERERENRZE_AFA-++HE
EFEMAEREENE WEHUTATR
%%i%ai/\%

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2025 and were signed
on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Chunhua Ms. Zhang Chunping

REZESE REFRZL
Chairman Director
FE EBEZE

B 76 3R % 2 40 P R

3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

96

BRREDTREA
Foreign
Share  currency Share Capital Share  Statutory Non-
Share  premium translation option Merger ~ contribution award reserve  Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve fund losses Subtotal ~ interests Total
ABER BREN  BRER  ERER
Bx  RAEEE i BREGE AKERE fif fife B¢ RitER M FBERER it
[hoteg) (hoteg) (oeq) (ot [hotee) (okeg (oted)
W) W) WEd W (B (WEy (i
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
ThL Thn T ThT ThT ThL Thn Tén ThT ThT ThL T
Asat 1 Aprl 2023 HZF-=EmA-A 15724 53511 (352 3464 39 RIALS - 1,150 (T05,247) 36,382 30780 06,162
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - - - - (68926) (68,926) 7169 (76,09%)
Other comprefensive (oss)income for the year: EREWRE(BE)/ i
Exchange diferences on ransition of foreign operaion BN ER 7B ZE - - (1,483 - - - - - - (1,489) 5 (1,424
Reclassficaton acjustments for freign operations HEBNERNER A BT
disposed - - (146) - - - - - - (146) - (146)
Total comprehensive loss forthe year Eh2EFREE - - (1,629) - - - - - 689 (70559) oy e
Dividend declared to former shareholder of a subsidiary
before acquisition /ot 3/ - - - - - - = = (11,883 (11,883 = (11,883
Transfer to stafutory reserve - - - - - - - T44 (144 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries /ot 49) - - - - 350,645 - - - - 350,645 (24,208 6437
Recognition of employegs share award scheme - - - - - - 2503 - - 20503 = 20503
Recogniton of employees share award scheme on
subsidiary level - - - - - - - - - - 5% 538
Asat 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1-B 145,704 523,511 (1981) 3464 350,984 3798 2050 189 (786,800) 30409 - 304092
Asat 1 Aori 2024 HEZMERA-H U574 523511 1,981) 32,464 350,984 37,198 20,503 1804 (1868000 324092 - 324,09
Proftfor the year EREH - - - - - - - - 10,068 10,068 151 10219
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of oreign operation - - (567) - - - - - - (567) M) (578)
Total comprehensive incor for the year - - (567) - - - - - 10,068 9,501 140 9,641
Acquiston of non-controling inerests - - - - - - - - - - 3 33
Alotment of share under the share award scheme (ot 35/
6,120 14383 - - - - (20,509) - - - - -
As at 31 March 2025 HW-8-REZA=1-A 161,84 537,804 (2549 32,464 350,984 37,798 - 184 (176732 333598 am 334,066
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

(9)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable to its shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), a portion of the profits of the entities
which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve
fund which is restricted as to use. When the balance of such reserve fund
reaches 50% of the capital of that entity, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve fund can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant
authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory reserve fund must be maintained at least 25% of
capital after such usage.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”)) which are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Zhang Chunhua (“Mr. Zhang”),
a director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had accepted a
promissory note issued by the Company with terms of promissory note in
favor to the Group.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the acquisition of a subsidiary and disposal of
subsidiaries under common control and the acquisition is accounted for by
applying the principles of merger accounting in accordance with Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger accounting for Common Control Combinations.

Share award reserve
Share awards reserve represent cumulative fair value of services received/

receivable from employees measured at the date of grant under the CBG
Share Award Scheme adopted on 20 March 2024.

B it -
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

(9)
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GARRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2025 2024
—E-hEF T -F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing REFELEEL ZBRFA]
operations wm L (E18) 12,537 (51,537)
Loss before tax from discontinued REE KR & EETE 2 BRELRI
operation =i - (21,505)
12,537 (73,042)
Adjustments for: KRAET Y FIE:
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEE®E 109 1,827
Bank interest income BT F B A (78) (84)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #% - BMEMZREZITE 245 475
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEINE 77 922
Employees share award scheme expenseson B RARIEH A E B H
subsidiary level REFEHAX = 538
Finance costs MBER 497 484
Gain arising on fair value change of contingent ~ EfTsAREBAFBEEHEE
consideration payable Z W Es (100) —
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate BB QR R = ) R - (10)
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised under  RIEFBHEEBEER 2 CRE
expected credit loss model, net BiEEE), R ERE
EEE (2,445) 23,144
Loss arising on fair value change of financial BEAFEEFAERZZEME
assets at FVTPL EQATEEESHELE 2 EE 60 —
Loss arising on fair value change of financial BAFEERA
liabilities at FVTPL BazemBaBATER
BHELER - 8,688
Share award scheme expenses B EE R8I - 20,503
Operating cash flow before movements EEESEHARKRERSRE
in working capital 10,902 (16,555)
Change in inventories FE# (318) 14,042
Change in loan receivables FE W B 3k 10,491 (5,182)
Change in trade receivables B REWARRE (26,648) 2,042
Change in prepayments, deposits and ENHRE - -FTek
other receivables Ho i JiE W 518 & 582 15,987
Change in trade payables B RNEREE 25,253 (791)
Change in other payables and accruals E b BT FRIB M FE AT RUIR & (682) (2,115)
Change in contract liabilities EHBEREY (3,928) (14,236)
Change in deposits from customers BEGFERE — 45978
Cash generated from operations REXEBMEZRE 15,652 39,170
Tax paid B RIE (3,419) (2,512)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

& N a=1
RERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2025 =2 T —_HAHF = A=+ —HBLLFE
2025 2024
—E-hHF ZEUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T FET
Net cash generated from operating REXBRB2ZREEHE
activities 12,233 36,658
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBZzRERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance to a former associate BEIE NG (371) (311)
Bank interest received B U fE Sl 78 84
Change in amounts due from related companies & 1 B8 B /X 7] 318 & &) 2,949 (9,236)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 4 & Fff /& A & E’J REMAFRE
(note 46) (K1 7t46) 160 =
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries 2R & H & E A FIIH & 7 F 5
(note 48) (K7 7#48) — (83,313)
Proceed from non-current asset classified as DEARBEREZIERBEE
held for sale Fr 18 %08 5,200 —
Purchase of intangible assets BERTAEE - (256)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BAVE BELZE (260) (76)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities RZEXEHME (FFH) =
Re&FHE 7,756 (93,108)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBZHELRE
ACTIVITIES
Advance from directors ] 23 20,158
(Repayment to)/advance from related companies (i 7 TZ)/ b N P (7,361) 6,882
Repayment of lease liabilities BEBEEAE (66) (1,080)
Net cash (used in)/from MEXE (AR, MEz
financing activities ReRHE (7,404) 25,960
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND BH&RREZEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS i, GEd)RE 12,585 (30,490)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of #&iﬁﬂ MzEes Rk
the reporting period R EEY 15,248 46,886
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net Y = @JZ VB FE (518) (1,148)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HREBRZ2HRERBLEED
THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD 27,315 15,248
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Brilliant Global Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.
The address of its principal place of business is Lot 2288,
DD129, Lau Fau Shan Road, Yuen Long, N.T., Hong Kong with
effect from 21 July 2025. The Company’s shares are listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate parent is Brilliant Chapter
Limited (“Brilliant Chapter”), a company incorporated in Republic
of Seychelles with limited liabilities and owned by Mr. Zhang
and Source Mega Limited which acts as nominee of Ms. Zhang
Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”). Both Mr. Zhang and Ms. Zhang are the
directors and Mr. Zhang is the brother of Ms. Zhang.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,
which is also the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (‘HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. The Group’s subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC with Renminbi (“RMB”) as their functional currency. The
directors consider that it is more appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HK$ as the shares of the
Company are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAHITIREBEITEEBMFIHR
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS E£E5#A8

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual periods beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

PAZAS 55 B 58 3l 4 2 B RT R AR (B ET
EREMBHESTHEL

RAFE AEBEERERAETES
AR (EESHMAR)EMAD
KR-Z_MFMA— BRI 2FEHRME
58 B £ B AT HTR] R ERT BB M 15
HESHER  URREEMBEHRE:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback EEMBRELN EREENHERE
F165% (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or AR EAEIY BAESIBEARYEEN
Non-current and Related Amendments to CHES) ERBEABERAERE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) AEESRAEBE]
KZZ=ZH)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants EESHEUNSER HMNEZHNERDEE
CHES
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements REAHERETTRR HENRERH
HKFRS 7 ARG REES

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

EIEACCEEN)

RAFEERAKETBEEMBRESS
BT EHAKERNAFRE RN BEFE
M BRARRRR,SEE M HER
BB ENERNTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # = —

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKAS 28 and
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 18

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —

Volume 11

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instrument?

Contract Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Lack of Exchangeability!

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
& Effective for annual periods on or after a date to be determined.

“HEZA=+T-HLEE

ER#MITREETERMER
SEERA @

/N

EEMERREN ZEBITEEY

BHwESEER

RSB LR R A TSI B MR M HE R
EMNRETREMBREGHER:

FAEENERR R REAARABEATAAELE LAY
EAMBREEN  AEHLELEA

£10% (BT A)
FAEGBEREE
F185%
EABREE
FORREEMBRE
ENETH ()
BANBREES
ZORRBBHBRE
RUZTH (BITH)

BHRENZ5IRRE

SRIADREG BN

FRERRBLEE MR

ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ@ BRUBRRERNBE  ARUKRE
SHENMFEDE RUET AR @W#ﬁiﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%
- E11% ERYRREENE0RRE AL

ERETH (BFTE)2
BEGHENENE RZIRAM

\25T¢\/
1 —ZE_RFE-A—H®kzERBHNEE R
A 2L e
2 R RE-A-HIZERBENFE
HARR AR -
s TR F-R-HSZERRABHNFER
i A e

¢ RBEEBREENFE BRI -

$’Ai§$%ﬁﬁ FE R B EIER] &R

The directors anticipate that the application of all amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

MR ESS /&EUH\TEH—}X g iR
EMBRRENEATE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”), and HK (IFRIC) Interpretations, HK Interpretations
and HK (SIC) Interpretations (collectively referred to as
“Interpretations”), issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

EXEHERREN

BRBRAEIN  REKRAMERERM
ERZERSABERINT - ZFRK
R-BEEREARNSEZKREE -

aREHN

REMBRRVIBBEE LSS H
A EREEMBREEL(FE
MBHmREERD  FESFERTEE
£ BREERMBRERE
ZEe)RE FERBLRBFECERR
BZzEe)nB(RRARE ) REAE
EBRANERAMRE < I A
MR RBIEM X IGEMAE 75 L A
(IGEM LM AR A RF A A RRHIE R
KEEHE-

REEE
BRHREMRULFEEHEZE TSR
TR REMBERRIDIBEBE LKA
ERRE -

B RA—BRABRIBE R R RBZR
BNRAFEERE -

RNPEERMS2EEZLHARAERD
EEFRZPHEEEMBMAERR
BERXNEER - M RS EREM
MERMER AR E M %ERS -

HRUARFEERZERATIEREA
ABEBTEREPELTEENEER
M TE  BAEERMETRE -
EAsp HER A E XTI AR ESFRNZ
HIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the period/year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up to the
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(Continued)

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets
meets the definition of a business, and control is transferred to
the Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities
and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set
of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, input
and substantive processes and whether the acquired set has the
ability to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred
and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer.
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent
adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from
the acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date.
All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination under
common control

On 5 October 2023 (the “Completion Date”), the Group
completed to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited* (731 i BA &
Y% R A BR A R]) (“Shenzhen CBPS”), which engaged in the
property management and value-added services (including but
not limited to the provision of intelligent management systems,
hardware and charging platform software for the managed
property, supervision of renovation projects and inspection of
such projects) (“Property Management Service Business”) from
Shenzhen Pengyuan Smart Technology Company Limited* (73!l
s R S RE R B BR A F)) (“Shenzhen Pengyuan’), a company
ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang (the “Acquisition”).

On the Completion Date, the Group completed to dispose of
the 3,794 ordinary shares in Brillink Holdings Limited (“Brillink
Holdings”) to Mr. Zhang (the “Disposal”). Brillink Holdings is
an investment holding company and through its operating
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Brillink Group”), is
principally engaged in the fintech business (the “Fintech
Business”) in Republic of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”). Upon
the completion of the Disposal, the Group has lost of control in
the Fintech Business. Accordingly, the Group did not carry on
Fintech Business since 5 October 2023.

The consideration of the Disposal was settled by way of set-off
against (i) the net assets of the Property Management Service
Business; and (ii) the unsecured promissory note issued to Mr.
Zhang with the outstanding principal amounts of US$10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$78,000,000) and relevant interest payables due
by the Company.

On 30 July 20283, the Board of the Shenzhen CBPS has declared
the payment of dividends to the Shenzhen Pengyuan by the

way of offsetting with amount due from Shenzhen Pengyuan of
RMB11,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,883,000).

for identification purpose only
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination under
common control (Continued)

The Acquisition was considered as a business combination
under common control as the Group and the Shenzhen CBPS
are both ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang. The Acquisition was
accounted for using merger accounting in accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations (“AG 5”) issued by the HKICPA. The Group
and the Shenzhen CBPS are regarded as continuing entities.

Under merger accounting, based on the guidance set out
in AG 5, the financial information incorporate the financial
statement items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of
goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination, to the
extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.
The adjustments to eliminate share/registered capital of the
combining entities or businesses against the related investment
costs have been made to other reserve in the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
prior years have been restated to include the results of the
Shenzhen CBPS as if the Acquisition had been completed since
the date the respective business first came under the common
control of the Company. The consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 April 2023 have been restated to adjust the
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Shenzhen CBPS
which had been in existence as at 1 April 2023 as if those
entities or businesses were combined from the date when they
first came under the common control of the Company (see below
for the financial impacts).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiaries, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiaries and non-controlling interests are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are account as for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (the “CGUS”) (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=

I

B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

Chi

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements ~ 30% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Office equipment 30%
Computer equipment 30% to 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EXEHERENME
INFORMATION (Continued)
Intangible assets BREE
Intangible assets acquired separately BRI E R EITER E
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired BEWENAEREHERNELE
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation ERK AR R RERRERE
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for EEINE - AIFATHERNERLE
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a E#MENEGGAERFHANKRER
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated EHER o (hEt I AEH R &
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of REREHRER - EAFEFTESHD
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate FELAIEREEANR -

being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of- BREEszhE - BE =& FH
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill REEREBVEEZMNE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the RERERR  AEEHEYE  KE
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right- B R FHERNFEAEEE
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to MEEEECRABEETSN  UEBET
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have EEAEEMBRBERZEEELRRA
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the B8 - WFEERZERR + 515518
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to MEEAIREEEE - ETEREEE
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). (MB)Z2RE -

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right- WME - MELSE THEEERER
of-use and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is BEMAKE S EEB MG W T A8k
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the B EENTKESEE  IAKE
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which M ZEEMBRSELEM 2RI
the asset belongs. Bl & %8 o

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated RAIFAIR S EEEMHRER - WA &
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of VEBM—ENEELE  AIGEEEW
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated SREEERSELASEN  IESIEE
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and ARVEEN—EskEEENK/ MRS
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable ELEBAAR - JESEIEAREE
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which FFBREEASBNIIRSEESBMAR
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying EBEr CTHERReELBEMIIRSE
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUSs. EBEMAR MR EMRLE -
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs A EEEARNFEBEREHEEN AR
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the FREEMEFRNRSE - R EEA
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present BER - HErRRRESREARAIALIER
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market KR EEBRE  ZRERETISR
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to BTGNS BERERT REEAR
the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows BErTRRBERENEE (SRS E

— 2%

have not been adjusted. BA)FFE R o 7 sﬂ
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental cost directly attribute to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BTSRRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ==L -_HF=H=+T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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A BTSRRI RE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including loan
receivables, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
(excluded other tax receivables), amount due from former
associate/an associate, amounts due from related companies
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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